

LUND UNIVERSITY

Beyond the basal ganglia

van der Burg, Jorien m

2008

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

van der Burg, J. M. (2008). *Beyond the basal ganglia*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Experimental Medical Science]. Institutionen för Experimentell Medicinsk Vetenskap, Lunds Universitet.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Beyond the Basal Ganglia

Widespread pathology in Huntington's disease

Akademisk avhandling

Som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska Fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorexamen i medicinsk vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i Belfrage Salen, Biomediciniskt Centrum, Lund,

Fredagen den 17 oktober 2008, kl 9:15

av

Jorien Maria Margaretha van der Burg

Enheten för Nervcellsöverlevnad Wallenberg Neurocentrum Avdelningen för Neurovetenskap Institutionen för Experimentell Medicinsk Vetenskap Lunds Universitet



Fakultetsopponent:

Professor Marie-Françoise Chesselet, M.D., Ph.D.

Charles H. Markham Professor of Neurology Chair, Department of Neurobiology The David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA Los Angeles, USA

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Neuronal Survival Unit	Date of issue
Wallenberg Neuroscience Center	2008-10-17
Division for Neuroscience	Sponsoring organization
Department of Experimental Medical Science	Marie Curie actions fellowshin:
Lund University	European Union, RTN MRTN-CT-2003-504636
Author(s) Jorien Maria Margaretha van der Burg	

Title and subtitle

Beyond the Basal Ganglia, widespread pathology in Huntington's disease

Abstract

Huntington's disease (HD) is a fatal, hereditary disorder caused by a mutation in the gene encoding the protein huntingtin. Although mutant huntingtin is ubiquitously expressed throughout the body, HD research has mainly focused on the role of the basal ganglia. Dysfunction of these brain nuclei likely underlies motor disturbances in HD, including the conspicuous, uncontrollable, dance-like movements (chorea). However, HD is frequently complicated by other important signs and symptoms that cannot, or not solely, be attributed to basal ganglia dysfunction. Among these is unintended weight loss, which occurs in nearly all HD patients and can affect both quality of life and disease progression. Other symptoms that might occur irrespective of basal ganglia dysfunction are cognitive deterioration, psychiatric problems, sleep disturbances, cardiac failure and atrophy of skeletal muscle.

The past decade has seen an increasing interest in the role of mutant huntingtin in other areas of the brain and body. Although these effects are still poorly understood, their study could lead to a better understanding of the pathological mechanisms underlying HD, as well as to the identification of novel markers of disease progression and therapeutic options. The aim of this thesis was, therefore, to investigate the effects of mutant huntingtin outside the basal ganglia, especially those structures that might underlie weight loss in HD, including the hypothalamus, adipose tissue, and the gastro-intestinal tract. We found that weight loss in both HD patients and R6/2 mice (a transgenic model of HD) is not caused by changes in caloric intake or locomotor activity. Metabolism was, however, increased in R6/2 mice and this may be the cause of weight loss. Interestingly, weight loss increases with higher CAG repeat length dependant manner. The mechanism underlying this is unclear, but several regulators of metabolism, including the hypothalamus, were affected in R6/2 mice. In addition, the gastro-intestinal tract is affected in both HD patients and R6/2 mice and malabsorption of nutrients was observed in end-stage R6/2 mice. Although gastro-intestinal dysfunction is unlikely to be the cause of weight loss in HD, it may play an important role in the acceleration of weight loss in the final stages of the disease.

The findings in this thesis demonstrate that mutant huntingtin does not only affect the areas that have traditionally received the most attention in HD research, i.e. the basal ganglia. Other areas in the brain and body, such as the hypothalamus and gastro-intestinal tract, are also affected. Dysfunction of these structures could account for weight loss as well as several other, yet poorly understood, signs and symptoms of HD. Elucidation of the role of mutant huntingtin throughout the body could provide a better understanding of HD pathogenesis, lead to the development of novel markers of disease progression, and open new avenues for treatment.

Huntington's disease, weight loss, metabolism, hypothalamus, gastro-intestinal tract

Classification system and/or index termes (if a	any):	
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language English
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-86059-43-9
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
	Security classification	

Distribution by (name and address)

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Date 2008-08-18

Key words:

Beyond the Basal Ganglia

Widespread pathology in Huntington's disease

Academic dissertation

by

Jorien Maria Margaretha van der Burg

Opponent:

Prof. Marie-Françoise Chesselet, M.D., Ph.D. Charles H. Markham Professor of Neurology Chair, Department of Neurobiology The David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA Los Angeles, USA

Thesis-advisors:

Prof. Patrik Brundin, M.D., Ph.D. Jia-Yi Li, M.D., Ph.D. Brigitte Pettmann, Ph.D.

Cover art:

Research on Huntington's disease has primarily focused on the neuropathology of the basal ganglia. The disease-causing gene is, however, ubiquitously expressed throughout the body. The cover illustrates structures outside the brain that may also be affected in Huntington's disease.

Cover and thesis artwork: Jorien van der Burg

Page lay-out: Bengt Mattsson

ISBN 978-91-86059-43-9 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series, 2008:90

Copyright © **2008 by Jorien M.M. van der Burg.** All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or distributed in any form, or by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system, without the prior written permission of the author.

Printed by Grahns Tryckeri AB, Lund, Sweden

To my parents

Aan mijn ouders

Do not go where the path may lead, go instead where there is no path and leave a trail.

Ralph Waldo Emerson 1803-1882

CONTENTS

ORIGINAL ARTICLES INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS	11
PUBLISHED ARTICLES NOT INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS	12
SUMMARY	13
SAMMANFATTNING	14
SAMENVATTING	15
	16
	10
NIRODUCTION	19
Clinical and pathological aspects of Huntington's disease	19
Symptoms and prevalance	19
The cause of Huntington's disease: mutant huntingtin	20
Cellular dysfunction	22
The role of the basal ganglia in Huntington's disease	23
Anatomy and function of the basal ganglia	23
The basal ganglia are affected in Huntington's disease	23
Why is the striatum so vulnerable?	23
Huntington's disease is not only a movement disorder	24
Cognitive deterioration	24
Psychiatric and behavioral problems	25
Sleep problems	25
Autonomic nervous system dysfunction	26
Heart failure	26
Weight loss	26
What causes these 'non-motor signs and symptoms'?	27
Beyond the basal ganglia: multiple brain regions are affected	27
Cerebral cortex	27
Cerebellum	28
Hippocampus	28
I naiamus	28
Brainstem	29
I ne nypothalamus	29
The enterior hypothelemue	29
The model hypothalamus	29
The nectorior hypothalamus	29
Hypothalamic pituitary avec	30
The hypothalamus is affected in Huntington's disease	30
Beyond the brain: peripheral pathology in Huntington's disease	32
Cardiovascular system	33
Digestive tract	33
Skeletalmuscle	34
Genital system	36
Blood	36
Other organs and tissues.	37

Widespread pathology in Huntington's disease: still poorly under-
Stood
Tools to study Huntington's disease
The D6/2 mouse model
Methode used in this thesis
Wille
Runningion's disease patients.
Body weight and lood intake
Locomotor activity
Analyses of hypothalamic peptides
Analysis of metabolism.
Analysis of the gastro-intestinal tract
Morphological analyses
Gastro-intestinal function
Statistical analyses
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
Weight loss is not caused by decreased caloric intake or increased motor
activity
Increased metabolism
Rate of weight loss increases with higher CAG repeat number
The hypothalamus is affected
Thirst: a novel biomarker?
The digestive tract is affected
CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES
Not only the basal ganglia are affected in Huntington's disease
Weight loss in Huntington's disease: a multi-factorial problem
Weight loss and thirst: novel biomarkers in Huntington's disease
Future perspectives
REFERENCES
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
CURRICULUM VITAE
APPENDICES
Paper I Increased metabolism in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease
Paper II Increased thirst and drinking in Huntington's disease and the R6/2 mouse
Paper III Weight loss in Huntington's disease increases with higher CAG repeat number
Manuscript IV Gastro-intestinal dysfunction in Huntington's disease
Color plates

ORIGINAL ARTICLES INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

I. Van der Burg J.M.M., Bacos K, Wood N.I., Lindqvist A., Wierup N., Woodman, B., Wamsteeker J.I., Smith R., Deierborg T., Kuhar M.J., Bates, G.P., Mulder H., Erlanson-Albertsson C., Morton A.J., Brundin P., Petersén Å.*, Björkqvist M.*, 2008. Increased metabolism in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease.

Neurobiol Dis. 29 (1), 41-51.

* The last two authors have equally contributed to the study

II. Wood N.I.*, Goodman A.O.G.*, **van der Burg J.M.M.***, Gazeau V., Brundin, P., Björkqvist M., Petersén Å., Tabrizi S.J., Barker R.A., Morton A.J., 2008. Increased thirst and drinking in Huntington's disease and the R6/2 mouse. *Brain Res Bull.* 76(1-2), 70-79. * The first three authors have equally contributed to the study

III. Aziz N.A., **van der Burg J.M.M.**, Landwehrmeyer G.B., Brundin P., Stijnen T., Roos R.A.C., 2008. Weight loss in Huntington's disease increases with higher CAG repeat number. *Neurology, in press.*

IV. Van der Burg J.M.M., Maat-Schieman M.L.C., Winqvist A., Aziz N.A., Roos R.A.C., Bates G.P., Sundler F., Brundin P., Wierup N., Björkqvist M. Gastro-intestinal dysfunction in Huntington's disease. *Manuscript*

PUBLISHED ARTICLES NOT INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

Terpstra N.J., Bolhuis J.J., Riebel K., van der Burg J.M.M., den Boer-Visser A.M., 2006. Localized brain activation specific to auditory memory in a female songbird. *J Comp Neurol.* 494 (5), 784-791.

Boon W.C., Diepstraten J., van der Burg J., Jones M.E., Simpson E.R., van den Buuse M., 2005. Hippocampal NMDA receptor subunit expression and watermaze learning in estrogen deficient female mice. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 140 (1-2), 127-132.*

SUMMARY

Huntington's disease (HD) is a fatal, hereditary disorder caused by a mutation in the gene encoding the protein huntingtin. Although mutant huntingtin is ubiquitously expressed throughout the body, HD research has mainly focused on the role of the basal ganglia. Dysfunction of these brain nuclei likely underlies motor disturbances in HD, including the conspicuous, uncontrollable, dance-like movements (chorea). However, HD is frequently complicated by other important signs and symptoms that cannot, or not solely, be attributed to basal ganglia dysfunction. Among these is unintended weight loss, which occurs in nearly all HD patients and can affect both quality of life and disease progression. Other symptoms that might occur irrespective of basal ganglia dysfunction are cognitive deterioration, psychiatric problems, sleep disturbances, cardiac failure and atrophy of skeletal muscle.

The past decade has seen an increasing interest in the role of mutant huntingtin in other areas of the brain and body. Although these effects are still poorly understood, their study could lead to a better understanding of the pathological mechanisms underlying HD, as well as to the identification of novel markers of disease progression and therapeutic options. The aim of this thesis was, therefore, to investigate the effects of mutant huntingtin outside the basal ganglia, especially those structures that might underlie weight loss in HD, including the hypothalamus, adipose tissue, and the gastro-intestinal tract. We found that weight loss in both HD patients and R6/2 mice (a transgenic model of HD) is not caused by changes in caloric intake or locomotor activity. Metabolism was, however, increased in R6/2 mice and this may be the cause of weight loss. Interestingly, weight loss increases with higher CAG repeat number in the mutant gene in both HD patients and R6/2 mice. This suggests that mutant huntingtin affects metabolic rate in a CAG repeat length dependant manner. The mechanism underlying this is unclear, but several regulators of metabolism, including the hypothalamus, were affected in R6/2 mice. In addition, the gastro-intestinal tract is affected in both HD patients and R6/2 mice and malabsorption of nutrients was observed in end-stage R6/2 mice. Although gastro-intestinal dysfunction is unlikely to be the cause of weight loss in HD, it may play an important role in the acceleration of weight loss in the final stages of the disease.

The findings in this thesis demonstrate that mutant huntingtin does not only affect the areas that have traditionally received the most attention in HD research, i.e. the basal ganglia. Other areas in the brain and body, such as the hypothalamus and gastro-intestinal tract, are also affected. Dysfunction of these structures could account for weight loss as well as several other, yet poorly understood, signs and symptoms of HD. Elucidation of the role of mutant huntingtin throughout the body could provide a better understanding of HD pathogenesis, lead to the development of novel markers of disease progression, and open new avenues for treatment.

SAMMANFATTNING

Huntingtons sjukdom (HS) är en ärftlig och dödlig sjukdom som orsakas av en mutation i genen som kodar för proteinet huntingtin. Trots att muterat huntingtin är uttryckt i hela kroppen genom proteinet ubikvitin, så har forskningen på HS till största del fokuserats på effekterna av sjukdomen på de basala ganglierna. En rubbad funktion i basala ganglierna ligger troligtvis bakom de motoriska störningar vid HS, som innefattar de iögonfallande, okontrollerbara och dansande rörelserna (därav den tidigare beteckningen danssjuka eller chorea). HS kompliceras oftast ytterligare av andra viktiga tecken och symptom som inte endast kan härledas till dysfunktion i de basala ganglierna. Ett av dessa symptom är ofrivillig viktminskning, som drabbar nästan alla HS-patienter och detta kan påverka både livskvaliteten samt hur sjukdomen framskrider. Andra symptom som uppkommer som inte enbart kan härledas till dysfunktion i de basala ganglierna, är en försämring av den kognitiva förmågan, psykiatriska problem, sömnsvårigheter, hjärtsvikt och förtvining av skelettmusklerna.

Det senaste årtiondet har intresset ökat att studera det muterade huntingtinproteinets roll i även andra områden av hjärnan och kroppen. Trots att kunskaperna fortfarande är bristfälliga, så kan studier av dessa effekter leda till en bättre förståelse av de patologiska mekanismerna som ligger bakom HS, samt till att identifiera nya markörer av sjukdomsförloppet och behandlingsalternativ. Målet med denna avhandling var därför att undersöka effekterna av muterat huntingtin utanför de basala ganglierna, framförallt i de strukturer som skulle kunna ligga bakom viktminskningen vid HS, som hypotalamus, fettvävnad och mag-tarmkanalen. Vi upptäckte att viktminskning hos HS-patienter och R6/2-möss (en transgen modell av HS) inte orsakas av förändringar i kaloriintag eller rörelseaktivitet. Ämnesomsättningen hade istället ökat hos R6/2-mössen och detta kan vara orsaken till viktminskningen. Intressant nog så ökade viktminskningen med ökat antal CAG-sekvenser i den muterade genen, bland både HS-patienter och R6/2-möss. Detta antyder att muterat huntingtin påverkar ämnesomsättningen och att den ökar med högre antal CAG-sekvenser. Mekanismen bakom detta är oklar, men ett flertal av de strukturer som reglerar ämnesomsättningen, hypotalamus medräknad, påverkades bland R6/2mössen. Dessutom påverkades mag-tarmkanalen bland både HS-patienter och R6/2-möss och vi kunde observera att näringsämnena absorberades dåligt i R6/2-mössen. Trots att dysfunktion i mag-tarmkanalen inte är en trolig orsak till viktminskning vid HS, så kan det spela en viktig roll i slutskedet av sjukdomen när förloppet av viktminskningen påskyndas.

Fynden i denna avhandling visar att muterat huntingtin inte bara påverkar de områden som traditionellt uppmärksammats mest inom HS-forskningen, dvs. de basala ganglierna. Andra områden i hjärnan och kroppen, som hypotalamus och mag-tarmkanalen, påverkas också. Dysfunktion i dessa strukturer kan förklara viktminskningen samt flera andra tecken och symptom av HS som man hittills har dålig kunskap om. Ett klargörande över det muterade huntingtinproteinets roll i hela kroppen skulle kunna ge en bättre förståelse av HS-patogenes, samt leda till utvecklingen av tidigare okända markörer för sjukdomsutvecklingen och öppna upp vägar för nya behandlingar.

SAMENVATTING

De ziekte van Huntington is een fatale, erfelijke aandoening die wordt veroorzaakt door een mutatie in het gen dat codeert voor het eiwit huntingtine. Hoewel mutant huntingtine overal in het lichaam tot expressie komt, heeft het onderzoek naar de ziekte zich vooral geconcentreerd op de rol van de basale ganglia. Aantasting van deze hersenkernen ligt waarschijnlijk ten grondslag aan de bewegingsstoornissen, waaronder de in het oog springende, ongewilde, dans-achtige bewegingen (chorea), die bij de ziekte voorkomen, De ziekte van Huntington wordt echter ook gecompliceerd door andere, belangrijke symptomen die niet, of niet alleen, aan aantasting van de basale ganglia toegeschreven kunnen worden. Een van deze symptomen is ongewild gewichts-verlies. Dit komt bij bijna alle patiënten met de ziekte van Huntington voor en kan zowel de kwaliteit van leven als de progressie van de ziekte ongunstig beïnvloeden. Andere symptomen die wellicht niet alleen door aantasting van de basale ganglia veroorzaakt worden, zijn onder andere cognitieve achteruitgang, psychiatrische problemen, verstoring van de slaap, hartfalen en atrofie van skeletspierweefsel.

De afgelopen tien jaar is de interesse in de rol van mutant huntingtine in andere gebieden van de hersenen en het lichaam toegenomen. Hoewel deze effecten nog grotendeels onbekend zijn, kan het bestuderen ervan leiden tot een beter begrip van de pathologische mechanismen die aan de ziekte ten grondslag liggen. Ook draagt het mogelijk bij aan de ontdekking van nieuwe markers voor ziekteprogressie, alsmede de ontwikkeling van nieuwe medicatie. Het doel van dit proefschrift was daarom om de effecten van mutant huntingtin in andere gebieden dan de basale ganglia, waaronder de hypothalamus, vetweefsel en het maag-darmkanaal, te onderzoeken. We vonden dat gewichtsverlies in zowel patiënten met de ziekte van Huntington als in R6/2 muizen (dit is een transgeen dier-model van de ziekte van Huntington) niet wordt veroorzaakt door veranderingen in calorische inname of fysieke activiteit. Het metabolisme bij R6/2 muizen was echter verhoogd en dit zou mogelijk de oorzaak van het gewichtsverlies kunnen zijn. Interessant is dat het gewichtsverlies gecorreleerd was met het aantal CAG repeats in het *huntingtine* gen bij zowel patiënten met de ziekte van Huntington als de R6/2 muizen. Dit suggereert dat de sterkte waarmee mutant huntintine het metabolisme verstoort, afhangt van het aantal CAG repeats in het mutante gen. Het onderliggende mechanisme is onbekend, maar diverse structuren in het lichaam die betrokken zijn bij het regelen van de metabole snelheid, waaronder de hypothalamus, waren aangetast. Verder was ook het maag-darm kanaal bij zowel patiënten met de ziekte van Huntington als de R6/2 muizen aangetast. De opname van nutriënten door het maag-darm kanaal was verminderd bij muizen die in het eindstadium van de ziekte verkeerden. Hoewel aantasting van het maag-darm kanaal waarschijnlijk niet de oorzaak is van gewichtsverlies bij de ziekte van Huntington, speelt het vermoedelijk een belangrijke rol bij het excessieve gewichtsverlies in de eindstadia van de ziekte.

De bevindingen in dit proefschrift tonen aan dat mutant huntingtine behalve de basale ganglia ook andere delen van de hersenen en het lichaam aantast. De aantasting van deze gebieden zou ten grondslag kunnen liggen aan het gewichtsverlies, maar zou daarnaast ook kunnen bijdragen aan andere symptomen van de ziekte van Huntington waarvan de oorzaken nog steeds niet goed bekend zijn. Het ontrafelen van de rol van mutant huntingtine in het gehele lichaam, zou ons meer inzicht kunnen geven in het ziektemechanisme en zou kunnen bijdragen aan de ontwikkeling van nieuwe markers voor ziekteprogressie. Ook zou het mogelijk bij kunnen dragen aan het ontwikkelen van nieuwe behandelingen voor de ziekte.

ABBREVIATIONS

3V	Third ventricle
α-MSH	α-melanocyte stimulating hormone
ABC	Avidin-biotin complex system
ACh	Acetylcholine
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AGRP	Agouti-related protein
AMPA	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Arc	Arcuate nucleus
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AUC	Area under the curve
BAT	Brown adipose tissue
BDI	Beck depression inventory
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BMI	Body mass index
BSA	Bovine serum albumine
C57BL/6	Commonly used mouse strain
CAG	Cytosine-adenine-guanine
Cal	Calories
CART	Cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript peptide
CCK	Cholecystokinine
cDNA	Complementary DNA
C/EBP-a	CAAT-enhancer-binding protein-α
CGRP	Calcitonin gene-related peptide
CNS	Central nervous system
CRF	Corticotropin-releasing factor
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
D1	Dopamine receptor 1
D2	Dopamine receptor 2
DA	Dopamine
DAB	3,3-diaminobenzidine
DARPP-32	Dopamine- and cyclic AMP-regulated phosphoprotein 32
DMH	Dorsomedial hypothalamus
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EHDI	European Huntington's Disease Initiative
ENS	Enteric nervous system
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FAS	Functional assessment
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GH	Growth hormone
GHRF	Growth hormone-releasing factor
GnRH	Gonadotropin-releasing hormone
GPe	External segment of the globus pallidus
GPi	Internal segement of the globus pallidus

HAP	Huntingtin-associated protein
HD	Huntington's disease
H/E	Hematoxylin and eosin
HIP	Huntingtin-interacting protein
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-8	Interleukin-8
IR	Immunoreactive
IT15	Interesting transcript 15
kCal	Kilo calories
LH	Lateral hypothalamus
MAO	Monoamine oxidase
MCH	Melanin-concentrating hormone
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
NeuN	Neuronal nuclei
NF-κβ	Neuronal factor KB
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NPY	Neuronentide Y
P53	Protein 53
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PFA	Paraformaldehvde
PGC-1a	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α
PGP	Protein gene product
POMC	Pro-oniomelanocortin
PVN	Paraventricular nucleus
PYY	Pentide VV also known as pentide tyrosine tyrosine
O-PCR	Ouantitative polymerase chain reaction
R6/2 mice	Transgenic mice expressing exon 1 of the human HD gene
REST-NRSE	Respressor Element-1 silencing transcription factor/neuron-restrictive silencer element
RIA	Radioimmunoassav
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SCN	Suprachiasmatic nucleus
S.E.M.	Standard error of the mean
SN	Substantia nigra
SNc	Substantia nigra pars compacta
SNr	Substantia nigra pars reticulata
STN	Subthalamic nucleus
TFC	Total functional capacity
ТН	Tyrosine hydroxylase
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
UCP1	Uncoupling protein 1
UCP2	Uncoupling protein 2
UHDRS	Unified Huntington's Disease Rating Scale
VACht	Vesicular acetylcholine transporter
Vas	Vasopressin
VMH	Ventromedial hypothalamus
VO,	Rate of oxygen consumption
WT	Wild-type (not expressing mutant huntingtin)
YAC	Yeast artificial chromosome

INTRODUCTION

n 1872 a young man named George Huntington published an article in which he described a hereditary, fatal disorder mainly characterized by uncontrollable movements (chorea) and mental impairment (Huntington, 1872). His description of the illness was so accurate that it gave the disease its eponymous name and served as the foundation for all subsequent work.

George Huntington proposed that 'chorea is essentially a disease of the nervous system', a view previously suggested by Paracelsus (table 1) (Huntington, 1872). On autopsy, Meynert (1877) observed that brains of Huntington's disease patients exhibit extensive atrophy of the basal ganglia (Bates et al., 2002). Subsequent research on Huntington's disease (HD) has therefore focused on the neuropathology of the basal ganglia, with limited attention to pathology in other regions (table 2).

Over the past century we have come to appreciate that HD not only presents with movement disturbances, but with a wide spectrum of other signs and symptoms, including cognitive deterioration, psychiatric problems, sleep disturbances, wasting of skeletal muscle, heart failure, and weight loss. Basal ganglia dysfunction alone may not be sufficient to explain the occurrence of such signs and symptoms. Are other brain areas and peripheral organs also affected in HD, and could they be held responsible for causing these 'non-motor symptoms'?

Clinical and pathological aspects of Huntington's disease

Symptoms and prevalence

Huntington's disease is an autosomal-dominantly inherited disorder. It has a prevalence of 4 to 8 per 100,000 people in European and Northern American populations and affects men and women equally (Harper, 1992). The first symptoms typically start appearing between the ages of 35 and 45 years and include minor uncontrollable movements and personality changes, such as depression and irritability (for review see Walker, 2007). Initially, motor symptoms mainly involve the small distal muscles, but later on also the larger postural muscles are involved, resulting in the characteristic dance-like movements in memory and attention. The end-stage of the disease is characterized by rigidity, dystonia and dementia. In most cases, HD results in death about 15 to 20 years after clinical onset.

In about 7% of HD cases, the first symptoms appear in childhood and lead to death within 7 to 10 years after disease onset (for review see Nance and Myers, 2001). This juvenile form of HD is neuropathologically comparable to the adult variant, although the rate of brain atrophy is increased and neuronal inclusions are more abundant (Squitieri et al., 2006). Compared to the adult form, disease progression is faster in juvenile onset HD patients. Choreatic symptoms are less pronounced and epileptic seizures, rigidity and dystonia are more common (Squitieri et al., 2006).

Year	Event
1374	Epidemic dancing mania described
1500	Paracelsus suggests CNS origin for chorea
1686	Thomas Sydenham describes post-infectious chorea
1832	John Elliotson identifies inherited form of chorea
1872	George Huntington characterizes Huntington's disease (HD)
1877	Meynert proposes that lesions in the striatum underlie chorea in HD
1976	Striatal lesioning used to create an animal model of HD
1993	HD gene identified
1993-97	Huntingtin found to be expressed in many tissues and organs in the body
1996	First transgenic mouse models of HD developed
1999	Huntingtin aggregates discovered in non-CNS tissues in R6/2 mice
2000-08	Increasing evidence that skeletal muscle, testis, blood cells, pancreas, cardiomyocytes, and liver tract are affected in HD

Table 1. History of Huntington's disease.

(Table modified from Walker, 2007)

The cause of Huntington's disease: mutant huntingtin

Huntington's disease is caused by an increased number of cytosine-adenine-guanine (CAG) repeats located near the 5'-end in exon 1 of the 'interesting transcript 15' (*IT15*) gene (HD study group, 1993). Healthy individuals typically have less than 36 CAG repeats, and repeats of 40 or above cause HD with complete penetrance (for review see Gusella et al., 1993; Myers, 2004). Individuals with 36-39 CAG repeats are at risk of developing HD, but penetrance is incomplete (McNeil et al., 1997). The length of the CAG expansion is inversely correlated with age of disease onset, with juvenile onset characterized by expansions of more than 60 repeats (Trottier et al., 1994; Brandt et al., 1996).

The protein encoded by the *IT15* gene, huntingtin, is primarily localized in the cytoplasm, but it is also present in the nucleus (for review see Landles and Bates, 2004). Huntingtin is a multi-domain protein with many functions and it is widely expressed throughout the body, in both neuronal and non-neuronal cells (Hoogeveen et al., 1993; Trottier et al., 1995). It may act as a molecular scaffold and regulates several cellular processes including protein trafficking and vesicle transport (Engelender et al., 1997), transcriptional events (Marcora et al., 2003; Zuccato

Search	Number of publications
"Huntington's disease"	5313
"Huntington's disease" AND "basal ganglia"	449
"Huntington's disease" AND striatum	1299
"Huntington's disease" AND cortex	643
"Huntington's disease" AND "cerebral cortex"	345
"Huntington's disease" AND cerebellum	133
"Huntington's disease" AND hypothalamus	53
"Huntington's disease" AND muscle	148
"Huntington's disease" AND heart	36
"Huntington's disease" AND kidney	48
"Huntington's disease" AND stomach	4

Table 2. PubMed search for Huntington's disease.

PubMed is a search engine for abstracts of biomedical research articles. Searching for "Huntington's disease" in this database, gives a rough indication of the number of publications that has appeared about this disorder. All searches included in this table were performed on the 1st of August 2008. At that date, according to the PubMed engine, 5313 publications on Huntington's disease had appeared, of which 449 concerned the basal ganglia and 1299 the striatum, a structure that is part of the basal ganglia. The cerebral cortex was the next most investigated brain region, but the number of publications concerning this area was not even half of the number of publications on the striatum. Remarkably few publications had appeared on organs outside the central nervous system.

Note: Searches in PubMed can be conducted in different ways, resulting in different numbers of publications. This table is, therefore, a rough indication of the number of scientific publications that had appeared on the different topics until the July 30, 2008.

et al., 2003), and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) production (Zuccato et al., 2001; Zuccato et al., 2003; Zuccato et al., 2005). The fact that huntingtin is highly conserved throughout evolution (Cattaneo et al., 2005) suggests that it is indispensable.

Mutant huntingtin has an expanded polyglutamine domain that induces a conformational change causing the protein to form intracellular aggregates. Most of these aggregates manifest as intranuclear inclusions (Lunkes et al., 2002), but aggregates are also found in the cell body, in axons and in dendrites (Li et al., 2003a). Inclusions are not unique to the brain. A study in the R6/2 mouse model of HD demonstrated their presence in many organs, including the liver, kidney, pancreas and gastro-intestinal tract (Sathasivam et al., 1999). Their role remains contro-

versial: some researchers believe the aggregates are a neutral by-product or even neuroprotective (Arrasate et al., 2004; Slow et al., 2005), whereas others believe they are toxic.

Huntingtin interacts with various proteins. Today, more than 30 huntingtin-interacting proteins have been identified, and the list is continuously growing (for review see Li and Li, 2004). Some are involved in trafficking and endocytosis, such as huntingtin-associated protein 1 (HAP1) (Li et al., 1995; Li and Li, 2005), and huntingtin-interacting protein 1 (HIP1) (Kalchman et al., 1997; Wanker et al., 1997). Others, such as nuclear factor- κ B (NF- $\kappa\beta$), protein 53 (P53), and repressor element-1 silencing transcription factor/neuron-restrictive silencer element (REST-NRSE) are important transcription factors. Several are involved in signaling and cell metabolism. It is unclear if and how these huntingtin-interacting proteins are involved in HD pathogenesis.

Cellular dysfunction

There are various ways by which mutant huntingtin could cause cellular dysfunction and death (for review see Landles and Bates, 2004). Misfolded huntingtin for instance saturates the proteasome system that normally degrades un-needed and damaged proteins. Consequently, mutant huntingtin accumulates and forms insoluble aggregates that recruit and trap other proteins. Among these trapped proteins are transcription factors, such as CREB-binding protein, and depletion of such factors results in transcriptional down-regulation of many other proteins.

Presence of mutant huntingtin also causes mitochondrial impairment and oxidative stress (for review see Browne and Beal, 2004, 2006; Lin and Beal, 2006). Activity of different mitochondrial complexes is decreased in HD cells (Gu et al., 1996; Arenas et al., 1998; Tabrizi et al., 2000) resulting in impaired metabolism, reduced ATP production, decreased resting membrane potential and a reduced threshold for calcium induced depolarization of mitochondria. This renders cells more vulnerable to excitotoxic insults. Excitotoxicity is a pathological process by which cells die due to overstimulation by excitatory amino acids, such as glutamate. Overactivation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)- and α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA)-receptors by the excitatory amino acids leads to increased influx of calcium into the cells, which activates free radicals and enzymes such as phospholipases, endonucleases, and proteases (includes caspases and calpains). Free radicals are highly reactive oxygen derivates that attack DNA and oxidize proteins. Phospholipases, endonucleases, and proteases digest the cytoskeleton, membranes, DNA, proteins and various other cellular components.

Apart from these toxic gain of functions, loss of wild-type huntingtin might also contribute to cell dysfunction and death. Ablation of wild-type huntingtin in mice is lethal (Duyao et al., 1995; Nasir et al., 1995; Zeitlin et al., 1995), indicating that huntingtin is necessary for cell survival. Loss of huntingtin has many consequences, all related to the functions it has. It could for instance cause depletion of BDNF. This growth factor is present in both the central and peripheral nervous system where it promotes survival and growth of neurons. Wild-type huntingtin normally binds to the transcription factors REST/NRSF that halt the production of BDNF. Absence of wild-type huntingtin leads to a constant inhibition of transcription of BDNF, resulting in decreased levels of this neurotrophic factor.

The role of the basal ganglia in Huntington's disease

Anatomy and function of the basal ganglia

Research on pathological mechanisms of HD has mainly focused on the basal ganglia. These are a group of interconnected brain nuclei that consist of the striatum (which includes the caudate nucleus, putamen and nucleus accumbens), and the external (GPe) and internal (GPi) segments of the globus pallidus. Because of their close functional and anatomical association, the substantia nigra (SN) and subthalamic nucleus (STN) are also often regarded as part of the basal ganglia.

The basal ganglia are mainly involved in motor control, but have also been implicated in cognition and emotion. The classical model of basal ganglia function developed by Albin and co-authors (Albin et al., 1989) and later modified by Chesselet and Delfs (1996), distinguishes a direct and indirect pathway. The striatum is the major input structure of the basal ganglia receiving information from the cortex through excitatory (glutamatergic) neurons. Input arises from most areas of the cortex, most extensively from the motor and prefrontal cortices (Parent and Hazrati, 1995a, b). The information that enters the striatum continues by the direct and indirect pathways to the GPi and GPe respectively. The GABAergic striatal neurons of the direct pathway express dopaminergic-1 (D1) receptors. They directly inhibit the GPi and in turn remove the tonic inhibition of the thalamus. The GABAergic striatal neurons of the indirect pathway express dopaminergic-2 (D2) receptors. They inhibit the GPe, reducing its tonic inhibition of the subthalamic nucleus. As a result of the disinhibition, the glutamatergic neurons of the subthalamic nucleus excite GABAergic neurons in the GPi and thereby promote inhibition of the thalamus. Removal of the tonic inhibition of the thalamus by the direct pathway facilitates movement, whereas the indirect pathway inhibits movement. (For review of basal ganglia function see Kandel et al., 2000)

The basal ganglia are affected in Huntington's disease

Soon after the publication of George Huntington's article, it was discovered that the striatum is severely atrophic in HD (Bates et al., 2002). Striatal atrophy occurs gradually and usually starts in the caudate nucleus (Vonsattel et al., 1985; Vonsattel and DiFiglia, 1998). Not all neuronal populations in the striatum are equally affected. Medium-sized spiny neurons, corresponding to about 90% of the striatal neuronal population, are generally the first to degenerate, whereas a-spiny interneurons are relatively spared (Ferrante et al., 1985; Ferrante et al., 1987; Cicchetti et al., 1996). Medium-sized spiny neurons include substance P-containing cells that project to the GPi and enkephalin-containing cells that project to the GPe. The latter, enkephalin-containing medium-sized spiny neurons, are the first to degenerate in HD (Sapp et al., 1995; Reiner et al., 2003), causing impaired activity of the indirect pathway and leading to increased locomotor activity and uncontrolled movements.

Why is the striatum so vulnerable?

It is not clear why the striatum is particularly vulnerable in HD. Many of the factors that are involved in cell death, such as caspases, proteases, and calcium are present in all cells. Selective cell loss in the striatum might result from a pathological interaction of mutant huntingtin with

striatum-specific molecules. Despite an extensive search for such molecules, only brain-specific proteins that interact with mutant huntingtin have been found (for review see Li and Li, 2004).

In the 1970s it was discovered that the striatum is very sensitive to toxic effects of excitatory amino acids, such as glutamate, kainic acid, and NMDA. Intrastriatal injections with kainate acid or NMDA in animals, affects medium-sized spiny neurons, while interneurons are spared (Coyle and Schwarcz, 1976; McGeer and McGeer, 1976; Ferrante et al., 1985; Beal et al., 1986). The sensitivity of a certain group of neurons to 'excitotoxic' insults largely depends on the number of NMDA receptors that are present on the cells, as well as on the uptake of glutamate by surrounding glial cells. Interestingly, brain regions that are most vulnerable in HD are generally not those containing the highest numbers of NMDA receptors (Wagster et al., 1994). Moreover, levels of glutamate are not increased in the basal ganglia (Reynolds et al., 1988; Schwarcz et al., 1988; Beal et al., 1990; Hickey et al., 2005), despite reduced levels of glutamate transporters in HD glial cells (Arzberger et al., 1997; Lievens et al., 2001). Moreover, several mouse models of HD replicate many of the HD symptoms, such as locomotor dysfunction, while their striata are resistant to excitotoxic insults (Hansson et al., 1999; Hansson et al., 2001).

BDNF and dopamine (DA) might also play a role in striatal cell death. Striatal neurons are especially reliant on BDNF and might also be oversensitive to the effects of DA. The latter may be well tolerated under normal circumstances, but could kill neurons with impaired energy metabolism. Among all brain regions, the striatum receives the densest DAergic innervation, which could explain its increased vulnerability in HD. Moreover, DA levels within the striatum show the same dorso-ventral gradient as the neuropathology in HD, indicating that DA is involved in the increased striatal sensitivity (Augood et al., 1997; Cass, 1997; Jakel and Maragos, 2000; Johnson et al., 2006).

Huntington's disease is not only a movement disorder

Although motor disturbances are a prominent feature of HD, the clinical phenotype is far more complex and variable than depictions of it as a progressive movement disorder. HD often presents with a wide spectrum of signs and symptoms, including cognitive deterioration, psychiatric and behavioral problems, sleep disturbances, autonomic nervous system dysfunction, heart failure, osteoporosis, wasting of skeletal muscle and weight loss (fig. 1).

Cognitive deterioration

Cognitive deterioration is an inherent feature of HD and is present from early in the disease (Zakzanis, 1998). Impairment of attention, concentration, visuospatial processing, and mnemonic function occur in early stages of HD, while deficits in executive function such as planning, problem solving, cognitive flexibility, and general cognitive deterioration are more pronounced during later stages of the disorder (Butters et al., 1978; Wolf et al., 2008a). Memory deficits progressively worsen over time, and include impairments in working memory, as well as declarative and procedural memory (Zakzanis, 1998; Wolf et al., 2007; Wolf et al., 2008b). In a meta-analysis of cognitive dysfunction in HD patients, verbal- and visual-delayed recall were found to be most impaired in HD, followed by tests involving executive skills, attention, and concentration (Zakzanis, 1998).



Figure 1. 'Non-motor symptoms' in Huntington's disease.

Huntington's disease not only presents with movement disturbances, but with a wide spectrum of other signs and symptoms, including cognitive deterioration, psychiatric problems, sleep disturbances, wasting of skeletal muscle, heart failure and weight loss.

Psychiatric and behavioral problems

The psychiatric symptoms in HD patients include depression, anxiety, irritability, apathy, schizophrenia-like states, behavioral and personality disorders, and aggression (Anderson and Marder, 2001; Berrios et al., 2001; Craufurd et al., 2001; Vassos et al., 2008). The prevalence of psychiatric disorders ranges from 35% to 76%, depending on the study design (van Duijn et al., 2007). The wide variation in the prevalence most likely results from definitional and ascertainment problems (Berrios et al., 2001; Vassos et al., 2008).

Sleep problems

Estimated from a questionnaire, almost 90% of HD patients suffer from sleep problems and nearly two-thirds of them report these as moderately or very much contributing to overall problems (Taylor and Bramble, 1997). Sleep problems include frequent nocturnal awakenings, increased non-rapid eye movement sleep and decreased slow wave sleep (Wiegand et al., 1991; Silvestri et al., 1995; Chokroverty, 1996; Petit et al., 2004). In addition, patients have disrupted circadian rhythms (Morton et al., 2005). Interestingly, circadian sleep disruption is also evident in the R6/2 mouse model of HD (Morton et al., 2005) and treating the disrupted rhythm improved cognitive function in these mice (Pallier et al., 2007).

Autonomic nervous system dysfunction

Vegetative symptoms indicative of autonomic nervous system dysfunction have repeatedly been reported in patients with HD. They include defects in postural vasoregulatory mechanisms (Aminoff and Gross, 1973, 1974), hyperhydrosis of hands and feet, disturbances of micturition (Bruyn, 1968), and swallowing difficulties (Leopold and Kagel, 1985; Kagel and Leopold, 1992). Although vegetative symptoms are most prominent in the advanced stages of the disease (Nance and Sanders, 1996; Kirkwood et al., 2001), autonomic complaints such as dizziness following standing up, excessive perspiration and tachycardia can occur even in mildly disabled HD patients (i.e. Shoulson and Fahn stages I and II (Shoulson and Fahn, 1979)) and even in otherwise asymptomatic gene carriers (Kobal et al., 2004).

Heart failure

Multiple epidemiological studies have shown that cardiac failure is the second most common cause of death in HD patients (Lanska et al., 1988; Sorensen and Fenger, 1992). Around 25% of the patients die due to cardiac failure, compared to less than 2% of the age-matched non-HD patients in the general population. Huntington's disease patients have decreased heart rate variability, both at rest and during the Valsalva maneuver, which is inversely correlated to some aspects of the Unified Huntington's Disease Rating Scale (UHDRS) (Sharma et al., 1999; Andrich et al., 2002). Also changes in cerebral blood flow have been described (Deckel et al., 1998; Deckel et al., 2000) and even bradycardia and second-degree atrioventricular block have been reported in a case of juvenile HD (Stober et al., 1983).

Weight loss

Weight loss is an important feature of HD. It follows a progressive course that begins in presymptomatic *HD* gene carriers and ends with profound cachexia in advanced stage patients (Sanberg et al., 1981; Farrer and Meaney, 1985; Farrer and Yu, 1985; Stoy and McKay, 2000; Djousse et al., 2002; Trejo et al., 2004; Trejo et al., 2005; Robbins et al., 2006; Mochel et al., 2007). It is unclear what tissues are lost. Weight loss could result from reduced adipose tissue, but also osteoporosis (Bonelli et al., 2002; Otti et al., 2007) and wasting of skeletal muscle (Farrer and Meaney, 1985; Farrer and Yu, 1985; Ribchester et al., 2004; Trejo et al., 2004) could contribute to weight loss in HD. Loss of weight frequently leads to general weakening and affects the quality of life of HD patients (Nance and Sanders, 1996). In addition, a higher body mass index (BMI) has been associated with a slower rate of disease progression (Myers et al., 1991) and weight loss is therefore an important therapeutic target in HD.

Interestingly, HD patients lose weight despite adequate nutrition and have a normal, or even higher caloric intake compared to control subjects (Sanberg et al., 1981; Morales et al., 1989; Trejo et al., 2004; Mochel et al., 2007). Weight loss does not correlate with chorea scores (Djousse et al., 2002) and is most prominent in the final, hypokinetic stages of the disease (Sanberg et al., 1981), suggesting that it is not secondary to hyperactivity.

Despite these important observations, little is known about the pathogenesis of weight loss in HD. Maintaining body weight is a highly complex process that involves different organs and tissues (Flier, 2004; Badman and Flier, 2005). The hypothalamus is one of the key players in regulating appetite and energy metabolism. It continuously monitors the bodies energy levels and increases appetite or energy expenditure when levels are respectively too low or too high. Organs such as the stomach and small intestines, the pancreas, and adipose tissue play important roles in communicating energy levels to the hypothalamus, as well as regulating the uptake of nutrients. The role of these organs in weight loss in HD is, however, unknown.

What causes these 'non-motor signs and symptoms'?

Most of the above described signs and symptoms in HD are poorly understood. Some have been suggested to be secondary to basal ganglia dysfunction (Aylward et al., 1997; Aylward et al., 2000; Anderson and Marder, 2001; Rosas et al., 2001; Rosenblatt et al., 2003; Ruocco et al., 2006; Ruocco et al., 2008). Unwanted movements could for instance disturb sleep (Hurelbrink et al., 2005), or cause increased energy expenditure and weight loss. However, symptoms such as weight loss are most prominent in the final, hypokinetic stages of the disease, arguing against a role for the basal ganglia. As will be reviewed in the next chapters, it is possible that pathology outside the basal ganglia contributes to these non-motor features of HD.

Beyond the basal ganglia: multiple brain regions are affected

It has long been recognized that neurodegeneration in HD is not confined to the basal ganglia. Subjects with HD exhibit generalized brain atrophy and significant volume reduction of the cerebral cortex, hypothalamus, amygdala, hippocampus, brainstem, and cerebellum (Vonsattel et al., 1985; Aylward et al., 1997; Vonsattel and DiFiglia, 1998; Aylward et al., 2000; Rosas et al., 2001; Aylward et al., 2003; Ruocco et al., 2006; Ruocco et al., 2008).

Cerebral cortex

The cerebral cortex is, after the basal ganglia, the second most investigated brain region in HD (table 2). Many studies have demonstrated that the cerebral cortex is affected. Cortical volume (with the exception of the medial temporal lobe) is decreased by 25% (Halliday et al., 1998) and significant reductions in the number of neurons have been found (Cudkowicz and Kowall, 1990; Hedreen et al., 1991; Sotrel et al., 1991; Braak and Braak, 1992; Macdonald et al., 1997). Depending on the layer and area within the cortex, as many as 10 to 55% of the neurons are lost. Cortical pathology is already evident in pre-symptomatic HD gene carriers (Gomez-Anson et al., 2008) and progresses in middle (Rosas et al., 2003) and later stages (Heinsen et al., 1994; Wagster et al., 1994; Selemon et al., 2004) of the disease. Interestingly, a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) study by Paulsen and co-authors (Paulsen et al., 2006) found increased volume of the cerebral cortex in preclinical HD, and these findings have, using a similar technique, been replicated in a mouse model of HD (Lerch et al., 2008). The volumes of cortical white matter, caudate and putamen were reduced.

Because of its extensive connectivity with the basal ganglia, most studies have focused on the frontal lobes. It has been shown, though, that the parietal cortex is also severely affected (Macdonald et al., 1997) and this could account for the slowing of saccadic eye movements, and deficits in performance of voluntary movements. Moreover, cortical neurodegeneration might also be involved in personality changes and dementia occurring in HD and it has been shown to contribute to some of the symptoms that previously had been primarily ascribed to the striatum (Rosas et al., 2008).

Cerebellum

The cerebellum plays an important role in the integration of sensory perception, coordination, and motor control. Neurodegeneration in the cerebellum has only been examined in a few cases of HD. Some studies reported cerebellar atrophy (Rosas et al., 2003; Ruocco et al., 2008), which manifests as thinning of the granule cell layer and loss of Purkinje cells (Jeste et al., 1984). Recently, loss of white matter in the cerebellum of HD patients was reported and it was suggested that the cerebellum and the integrity of cerebellar white matter might play a more important role in HD symptomatology (Fennema-Notestine et al., 2004).

Hippocampus

The hippocampus is located in the forebrain and plays a major role in short term memory and spatial navigation. It is one of a limited number of adult brain regions in which neurogenesis takes place. Late onset hippocampal degeneration in HD might contribute to memory deficits and general dementia. Several studies in HD patients reported a reduction of hippocampal area (de la Monte et al., 1988) and loss of neurons in the CA1 region of the hippocampus (Spargo et al., 1993). In the R6/1 (Lazic et al., 2004; Lazic et al., 2006) and R6/2 mouse models of HD (Gil et al., 2005) decreased cell proliferation was observed.

Thalamus

The thalamus is part of the circuitry connecting the basal ganglia and the neocortex. Neuronal loss in this area might therefore disrupt the striatocortical circuitry and contribute to motor dysfunction (Cepeda et al., 2007). As the thalamus also plays a role in the regulation of sleep and wakefulness, and emotions, thalamic degeneration might also contribute to the sleep problems and emotional disturbances frequently observed in HD patients.

Stereological quantification of the number of neurons and glial cells in the thalamus of terminal-stage HD patients, has demonstrated that in certain thalamic nuclei as many as 20 to 55% of the neurons are lost (Heinsen et al., 1996; Heinsen et al., 1999). Using MRI, Kassubek and co-authors also found the thalamus to be atrophic in HD patients and showed that this atrophy correlates with cognitive performance (Kassubek et al., 2005). A more recent study involving serial positron emission tomography (PET) found that thalamic metabolism is increased in presymptomatic HD gene carriers, but fell to subnormal levels as soon as they started developing symptoms (Feigin et al., 2007).

Brainstem

The brainstem is responsible for the regulation of many vital functions, such as breathing, digestion, heart rate and blood pressure. Little has been published on neuropathological alterations in the brainstem of HD patients, but neurodegeneration and atrophy in this area has been reported (Roos et al., 1986; Roos, 1986; Rosas et al., 2003). More recent findings indicated long-term potentiation plasticity to be impaired in the brainstem of HD patients (Crupi et al., 2008). In mice, HAP1 has recently been shown to be an important regulator of both cerebellar and brainstem development (Sheng et al., 2008), but it is unclear if depletion of HAP1 in HD could lead to cerebellar and brainstem pathology.

The hypothalamus

Anatomy and functions of the hypothalamus

The hypothalamus plays an important role in the regulation of sleep, reproduction, water homeostasis, body temperature, energy metabolism, appetite, and body weight (for review see Swaab, 2003). Several of these functions, such as body weight and sleep regulation, are disrupted in HD patients and hypothalamic dysfunction may contribute to this (Aziz et al., 2007).

The hypothalamus can be divided into three regions in a rostro-caudal direction: anterior (or preoptic), medial (or tuberal) and posterior region.

The anterior hypothalamus

The most anterior part of the hypothalamus is the preoptic area, which includes the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) that acts as a circadian pacemaker or biological master-clock. The anterior hypothalamus is also involved in the control of blood pressure, body temperature, cycles of activity and reproductive activity.

The medial hypothalamus

The medial hypothalamus includes the dorsomedial, ventromedial, lateral, paraventricular, supraoptic, and arcuate nuclei. (See fig. 2 for an overview of the medial hypothalamus in the mouse brain and the neuronal populations that have been investigated in this thesis.)

The paraventricular nucleus (PVN) lies adjacent to the third ventricle, from which it derives its name. Based on cell size, two types of neurons are generally distinguished in the PVN: magnocellular and parvocellular neurons. The magnocellular cells possess long axons that terminate in the posterior pituitary gland. There they release either oxytocin or vasopressin, two peptide hormones that are produced in the cell bodies of the magnocellular cells and released into the blood stream in the posterior pituitary. Vasopressin, also known as arginine vasopressin or antidiuretic hormone, plays a major role in water homeostasis. It is released when the body is dehydrated and causes the kidneys to conserve water. It also raises blood pressure by inducing moderate vasoconstriction. Oxytocin has several roles, including the regulation of breastfeeding and uterus contractions during labor.

The parvocellular neurons of the PVN produce neuropeptides, such as corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) that are released into the hypothalamicpituitary portal system that transports them to the anterior pituitary. There they stimulate the production of, respectively, adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH). ACTH is a component of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and is produced in response to stress. Its principal effect is to increase cortisol production by the adrenal glands. TSH stimulates the thyroid gland to secrete the hormones thyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3) that increase the body's basal metabolic rate.

The arcuate nucleus contains neuroendocrine neurons, such as growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) producing neurons, and projecting neurons, such as the neuropeptide Y (NPY), agouti-related protein (AGRP), pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC), cocaine-and-amphetamine-regulate transcript (CART) and somatostatin producing neurons. GHRH is transported to the anterior pituitary gland via the hypophysial portal blood system where it stimulates the secretion of growth hormone (GH). The other peptides are, among other things, involved in appetite regulation: NPY and AGRP stimulate appetite, whereas POMC and CART inhibit appetite and feeding.

The lateral hypothalamus contains neurons expressing the orexigenic neuropeptides melaninconcentrating hormone (MCH) and orexin. The latter, also known as hypocretin producing neurons, express the *orexin* gene, which codes for the precursor peptide prepro-orexin from which two orexin peptides are generated: orexin-A and orexin-B. Both MCH and orexins have several functions, including the regulation of appetite and energy metabolism.

The medial hypothalamus in humans and primates also contains the lateral tuberal nuclei. The function of these nuclei is not completely clear, but they are enriched with NMDA-receptors (Kremer 1993).

It has to be acknowledged that, apart from the above described functions, most peptides in the medial hypothalamus have various other roles. Orexins are for instance also known as regulators of wakefulness. Moreover, the expression of most peptides is not limited to the above described hypothalamic nuclei. CART, for instance, is also present in the dorsomedial and lateral nuclei (Elias et al., 2001).

The posterior hypothalamus

The posterior hypothalamus includes the mammillary bodies, which are involved in memory processing (Swaab, 2003; Vann and Aggleton, 2004), and the tuberomammillary nucleus. The latter contains the histaminergic system and is the only source of histamine in the brain. The histaminergic system is involved in a great number of different functions, such as modulation of the state of arousal, the control of vigilance, sleep and wakefulness, locomotor activity, food intake, neuronal plasticity, and learning and memory (Passani et al., 2000; Swaab, 2003).

Hypothalamic-pituitary axes

Hypothalamic output is either conveyed via neural projections, or through endocrine hormones. Neural projections include the medial forebrain bundle that connects the hypothalamus with the brain stem, basal forebrain, amygdala and cerebral cortex, and a periventricular fiber system that links the hypothalamus to the midbrain.

The endocrine projections of the hypothalamus are classically divided into different axes, including the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis, the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonodal (HPG) axis, the somatotropic axis and the lactotropic axis. Via these axes, the hypothalamus regulates the production of many hormones in the periphery, including cortisol by the adrenal gland (regulated by the HPA axis), thyroid hormones



Figure 2. Overview of the medial hypothalamus in mice.

Schematic overview of the localization of the hypothalamus in a coronal section of the mouse brain (top figure). The figure below represents a rough indication of the location of the nuclei (on the left side) and neuropeptides (on the right side) that were investigated in the studies included in this thesis. Note that not all nuclei of the hypothalamus can be seen at the same rostro-caudal level. Moreover, the expression of most peptides is not limited to the nuclei that they have been depicted in.

by the thyroid (regulated by the HPT axis), and estrogen, progesterone and testosterone by the gonads (regulated by the HPG axis). As will be reviewed below, both the hypothalamus (Kremer et al., 1990; Kremer et al., 1991; Kassubek et al., 2004; Petersen et al., 2005; Aziz et al., 2008a) and the expression of several of these 'peripheral hormones', e.g. testosterone (Markianos et al., 2005) and corticosteroids (Heuser et al., 1991; Leblhuber et al., 1995; Bjorkqvist et al., 2006), are affected in HD. It is, however, unclear whether alterations in plasma levels of these peripheral hormones arise from hypothalamic-pituitary dysfunction (Petersen and Bjorkqvist, 2006; Aziz et al., 2007), or from pathology in the organs producing these hormones.

The hypothalamus is affected in Huntington's disease

The first indications for hypothalamic pathology in HD stem from a few papers published during the latter half of the last century (Schöpe, 1940; Vogt and Vogt, 1952; Wahren, 1959, 1964; Bruyn and von Wolferen, 1973). These studies were all qualitative in nature, describing single or a few cases without systematic quantitative morphological analysis (Aziz et al., 2007). Kremer and co-authors extended upon these early findings by demonstrating that up to 90% of the cells in the lateral tuberal nucleus of the hypothalamus are lost in end-stage patients (Kremer et al., 1990; Kremer et al., 1991). More recent studies also showed that the hypothalamus is atrophied (Kassubek et al., 2004) and that orexin-A, but not MCH, neurons are specifically lost (Aziz et al., 2008a). Loss of orexin was also found in the R6/2 mouse model and has been linked to narcoleptic episodes (Petersen et al., 2005). In addition, R6/2 mice have increased daytime activity and decreased nocturnal activity that is accompanied by disrupted expression of the circadian clock genes mPer2 and mBmal1 in the SCN (Morton et al., 2005).

Cells in the hypothalamus in a HD mouse model exhibit a high incidence of huntingtin aggregates and mRNA levels of vasopressin, oxytocin, and CART, are significantly reduced (Kotliarova et al., 2005). Genes that are predominantly expressed in the striatum, such as DARPP-32 and enkephalin, are also significantly reduced in the hypothalamus. Interestingly, the authors did not observe significant cell loss and therefore concluded that aggregate formation might result in down-regulation of specific genes.

In addition to transcriptional down-regulation of genes, HAP1 might also be involved in hypothalamic dysfunction in HD. This huntingtin-interacting protein is highly abundant in the hypothalamus (Li et al., 1996), where it might be involved in intracellular trafficking in certain types of endocrine cells (Liao et al., 2005). Mice lacking HAP1 die postnatal due to depressed feeding behavior (Chan et al., 2002) and display neuronal death resembling hypothalamic degeneration in HD (Li et al., 2003b). In addition, HAP1 is upregulated in response to fasting (Sheng et al., 2006). This all suggests a role for HAP1 in feeding and body weight regulation. Interestingly, HAP1 expression is reduced in brains of HD patients (Li et al., 1998) and the R6/2 mouse model (Li et al., 2003b) and HAP1 might therefore contribute to weight loss in HD.

Hypothalamic cell loss in HD patients has been suggested to result from excitotoxicity. Kremer and co-authors found the lateral tuberal nucleus to be enriched with NMDA-receptors (Kremer et al., 1993). In addition, orexin neurons in the lateral hypothalamus might be particularly susceptible to excitotoxic cell death (Katsuki and Akaike, 2004). These findings might explain the vulnerability of this neuronal population in HD.

Beyond the brain: peripheral pathology in Huntington's disease

As reviewed above, several areas in the HD brain are affected. This might contribute to several non-motor symptoms of the disease. Most of these symptoms are, however, complex and brain dysfunction might not be the only factor contributing to their occurrence. Mutant huntingtin is also expressed outside the brain (Hoogeveen et al., 1993; Trottier et al., 1995), and may affect, as will be reviewed below and in figures 3 and 4, many peripheral organs. Investigating peripheral pathology in HD might contribute to our understanding of non-motor symptoms. Moreover, it could lead to the discovery of new markers of disease progression, the so called 'biomarkers',

that are needed for monitoring disease progression in patients and can be used as output measurement during drug testing.

Cardiovascular system

Cardiac failure is the second leading cause of death in HD patients (Lanska et al., 1988; Sorensen and Fenger, 1992) and is also a common cause of death in the R6/2 mouse model of HD (Mihm et al., 2007). Studies of cardiac tissue from HD patients have never been reported. In R6/2 mice the myocardium is atrophied and mitochondria have abnormal shapes (Mihm et al., 2007). Consequently, systolic and diastolic performances are disrupted and cardiac output is reduced by 50% in these mice.

It could be assumed that altered autonomic function underlies cardiac abnormalities in HD. Interestingly, cardiomyocyte-specific expression of polyglutamine fragments with 83 CAG repeats in mice induces aggregate formation, autophagy, and necrotic death of cardiomyocytes and leads to heart failure (Pattison and Robbins, 2008; Pattison et al., 2008). This suggests that heart failure in HD could directly arise from cardiomyocyte dysfunction.

Digestive tract

The digestive tract plays a major role in ingestion, digestion and absorption of food. Especially the stomach and small intestines are important in digestion. They produce digestive enzymes and communicate energy levels to the hypothalamus and other organs by peptides such as ghrelin and cholecystokinin (for review see Coll et al., 2007).

Malfunctioning of the digestive tract could result in reduced nutrient uptake and might contribute to weight loss. This has, however, never been investigated in HD. Interestingly, despite a normal, or even higher caloric intake (Sanberg et al., 1981; Morales et al., 1989; Trejo et al., 2004; Mochel et al., 2007), nutritional deficiencies have been reported to occur in HD patients (Lanska et al., 1988; Mochel et al., 2007).

It is unclear which organs along the alimentary canal might be affected in HD. There are strong indications that the endocrine pancreas is impaired, as both HD patients and mouse models of the disease tend to develop impaired glucose tolerance or diabetes (Podolsky et al., 1972; Podolsky and Leopold, 1977; Farrer, 1985; Hurlbert et al., 1999; Duan et al., 2003; Bjorkqvist et al., 2005; Josefsen et al., 2008). In HD mice, pancreatic islets are reduced in size and the cells exhibit intranuclear inclusions (Bjorkqvist et al., 2005; Hunt and Morton, 2005), causing them to develop defects in insulin, somatostatin and glucagon production (Andreassen et al., 2002). Mass of the islets is, however, not decreased in HD patients (Bacos et al., 2008), suggesting that impaired glucose tolerance might be due to transcriptional defects, rather than cell loss. The exocrine pancreas has, to my knowledge, never been studied in HD.

In addition to the pancreas, the liver might be affected in HD. A recent study in mice has shown that mutant huntingtin suppresses CAAT-enhancer-binding protein- α (C/EBP- α), a crucial transcription factor for the transcription of urea cycle enzymes, in the liver (Chiang et al., 2007). This leads to high circulating levels of ammonia and subsequent behavioral deficits, such as locomotor dysfunction. Interestingly, a low protein diet reduces blood plasma levels of ammonia, and thereby ammeliorates brain damage and behavioral deficits in these HD mice, suggesting that classical neurological symptoms could even arise from peripheral deficits.



Figure 3. Peripheral dysfunction in HD patients.

Several peripheral organs and tissues have been found to be affected in HD patients

Loss of function of wild-type huntingtin might also play a role in weight loss in HD. Interestingly, levels of normal huntingtin modulate body weight in a dose-dependent way (Van Raamsdonk, 2006) and fasting alters the expression of both huntingtin and huntingtin-interacting proteins, such as HIP1 and NF-k β , in the intestines of wild-type mice (Milka Sokolovic and Wouter Lamers, personal communication). These findings suggest a direct role of huntingtin in the regulation of nutrient uptake.

Skeletal muscle

Wasting of skeletal muscle commonly occurs in HD patients (Farrer and Meaney, 1985; Farrer and Yu, 1985; Ribchester et al., 2004; Trejo et al., 2004). *In vitro* cultures of skeletal muscle from pre-symptomatic and symptomatic HD subjects show several abnormalities, including mitochondrial depolarization, respiratory chain dysfunction, cytochrome c release, increased caspase activity, defective cell differentiation and apoptosis (Arenas et al., 1998; Ciammola et al.,



Figure 4. Peripheral dysfunction in HD mouse models. Several peripheral organs and tissues have been found to be affected in mouse models of HD

2006; Turner et al., 2007). Moreover, the cells exhibit abnormal fiber morphology and enlarged mitochondria with abnormal cristae (Arenas et al., 1998). These findings point towards mito-chondrial dysfunction underlying skeletal muscle pathology in HD.

In vivo, studies in HD patients also indicate mitochondrial dysfunction. During recovery from exercise, the maximum rate of mitochondrial adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production is largely reduced in both symptomatic HD patients and pre-symptomatic HD carriers (Lodi et al., 2000; Saft et al., 2005). In addition, progressive myopathy along with mitochondrial pathology has been reported in a marathon runner at risk for HD (Kosinski et al., 2007).

Apart from mitochondrial dysfunction, transcriptional dysregulation also contributes to skeletal muscle pathology. HD muscle cells show increased expression of genes encoding chaperones, heat shock proteins and proteasomal-subunits (Luthi-Carter et al., 2002; Strand et al., 2005). Transcriptional dysregulation in skeletal muscle of HD mice is highly comparable to changes seen in the brain of the same mice, although also muscle-specific mRNAs are altered
(Luthi-Carter et al., 2002). In addition, changes in gene expression in muscle in both HD patients and mice reflect disease progression and are therefore a valuable biomarker of the disease (Strand et al., 2005).

Genital system

The testes are together with the brain the sites with the highest huntingtin expression in the body. Although the number of offspring is not decreased in HD patients (Shokeir, 1975; Mastromauro et al., 1989; Pridmore and Adams, 1991), recent studies show that male patients have decreased numbers of germ cells along with thickened walls and narrower seminiferous tubules in the testes (Van Raamsdonk et al., 2007). Mature spermatids were often absent near the time of death (Van Raamsdonk et al., 2007).

The R6/2 and yeast artificial chromosome (YAC) 128 mouse models of HD also exhibit testicular pathology. Their testes are atrophied and the mice display decreased fertility (Leavitt et al., 2001; Papalexi et al., 2005; Van Raamsdonk et al., 2005; Van Raamsdonk et al., 2007). The seminiferous epithelium in the testis of YAC128 mice is disorganized and germ cell numbers are reduced (Van Raamsdonk et al., 2005; Van Raamsdonk et al., 2007). Interestingly, the onset of testicular atrophy coincides with the onset of neuronal atrophy in the striatum and was more severe (Mangiarini et al., 1996; Davies et al., 1997; Sathasivam et al., 1999), suggesting that testicular degeneration is a major event in the disease.

Male HD patients and mouse models of HD also have reduced plasma levels of testosterone (Markianos et al., 2005). Decreased levels of testosterone are generally associated with decreased libido and fertility, osteoporosis, and wasting of skeletal muscle and these are all signs and symptoms that have been attributed to either HD patients or mouse models of HD (Farrer and Meaney, 1985; Leavitt et al., 2001; Bonelli et al., 2002; Trejo et al., 2004; Papalexi et al., 2005; Otti et al., 2007). Moreover, low levels of testosterone have been associated with neuronal loss (Veiga et al., 2004) and could therefore even contribute to neurodegeneration in HD.

It is unclear what the cause is of reduced plasma testosterone levels in HD. Levels of luteinizing hormone in the patients (Markianos et al., 2005) and GnRH in R6/2 mice (Papalexi et al., 2005) are decreased, which suggests involvement of the HPG axis. However, GnRH and testosterone levels are normal at early time points when testicular degeneration is already present (Papalexi et al., 2005; Van Raamsdonk et al., 2007), suggesting that testicular abnormalities are not secondary to alterations in the HPG axis, but primarily arise from mutant huntingtin expression in the testis.

Blood

Blood cells in HD are affected in numerous ways. Gene transcription (Borovecki et al., 2005; Anderson et al., 2008), caspase activity (Maglione et al., 2006), and mitochondrial function (Parker et al., 1990; Sawa et al., 1999; Panov et al., 2002; Mormone et al., 2006) are affected in hematocytes. In addition, adenosine A2A receptor functioning (Varani et al., 2003; Varani et al., 2007), which might also be involved in striatal pathology, and monoamine oxidase (MAO) activity (Norman et al., 1987), that produces free radicals, have been reported to be altered.

It is unclear if and how dysfunction of blood cells contributes to HD symptoms. Wild-type huntingtin is suggested to be required for normal hematopoiesis (Metzler et al., 2000), and for iron utilization and hemoglobin production (Lumsden et al., 2007). Levels of hemoglobin and iron utilization are decreased in HD patients (Bonilla et al., 1991).

Interestingly, immune activation has also been suggested to play a role in HD. Blood plasma of HD patients shows signs of inflammation, such as increased levels of interleukins 8 and 6 (IL-8 and IL-6) (Dalrymple et al., 2007; Bjorkqvist et al., 2008). The immune system in HD might be activated in reaction to pathological changes, such as aggregate formation or necrotic cell death. However, levels of IL-6 are already increased as early as 16 years before the predicted onset of symptoms (Bjorkqvist et al., 2008). Moreover, monocytes from HD patients and asymptomatic *HD* gene carriers express mutant huntingtin and are, when isolated, pathologically hyperactive in response to stimulation (Bjorkqvist et al., 2008). This all suggests that inflammatory changes in HD result from cell autonomous dysfunction.

Other organs and tissues

In addition to the above described organs and tissues, other peripheral sites might be affected in HD. A study in R6/2 mice demonstrated that the mice suffer from Cushing's syndrome with enlargement of the intermediate pituitary lobe, increased cortisol levels, insuline resistance, wasting of skeletal muscle and decreased bone density. Several of these symptoms are also present in HD patients and, although rarely investigated, even osteoporosis might be part of the HD phenotype (Bonelli et al., 2002; Otti et al., 2007). Connective tissue is also affected, as fibroblast lines from HD patients and R6/2 mice exhibit reduced mitotic indices and a high frequency of aneuploidy (Sathasivam et al., 2001).

Studies in HD mouse models show that white adipocytes respond inadequately to starvation signals (Fain et al., 2001), and that brown adipocytes respond inadequately to cold exposure due to reduced peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α) and blunted uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) expression (Weydt et al., 2006). Such alterations in adipose tissue could have major effects on energy metabolism and weight loss in HD.

Apart from all these non-neuronal tissues, studies in mice suggest that mutant huntingtin might also affect peripheral nerve cells, such as those forming the sciatic nerve (Wade et al., 2008), and those found in the retina (Jackson et al., 1998; Helmlinger et al., 2002; Petrasch-Parwez et al., 2004). Moreover, huntingtin has been shown to form aggregates in neurons of the enteric nervous system in the stomach and duodenum of R6/2 mice (Sathasivam et al., 1999), but possible malfunction of these neurons and organs has never been studied in HD.

Widespread pathology in Huntington's disease: still poorly understood

The evidence reviewed above indicates the occurrence of widespread pathology in HD. In spite of this evidence, pathology outside the basal ganglia and its relation to non-motor signs and symptoms in HD are still poorly understood. Several brain areas and other organs, including the lung, thymus, kidney and gastro-intestinal tract, have seldom or never been investigated in HD. Pathology outside the basal ganglia could be related to several of the disease characteristics, such as cognitive deterioration, psychiatric problems, sleep disturbances, wasting of skeletal muscle, heart failure and weight loss, and it is therefore tremendously important to investigate this. Moreover, studying structures outside the basal ganglia could contribute to a better understanding of the disease and its pathological mechanism, the identification of new biomarkers, and it could lead to the finding of new therapeutic targets.

This thesis aims to investigate pathology outside the basal ganglia and its relation to nonmotor symptoms of HD. I have focused on weight loss, as this affects the quality of life of HD patients (Nance and Sanders, 1996) and is associated with the rate of disease progression (Myers et al., 1991). In doing so, I have addressed the research aims that are listed below.

Aims

• What is the cause of weight loss in HD? (*Papers I and III, and manuscript IV*)

• Are the hypothalamus and gastro-intestinal tract affected in HD? (*Papers I and II, and manuscript IV*)

• Are disturbances in water intake and water balance part of the HD phenotype? (*Paper II*)

• Are nutrients properly absorbed in HD? (Manuscript IV)

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Tools to study Huntington's disease

Several genetic models of HD have been generated. They include *in vitro* cellular models and non-mammalian animal models, such as those generated in *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Caenorhabditis elegans* (for review see Marsh et al., 2003; Brignull et al., 2006)). These models have been particularly useful tools to investigate intracellular disease processes. Moreover, they have been valuable for rapidly screening potential beneficial pharmacological compounds.

Although they provided important insights into the molecular mechanisms of HD, other models are needed to investigate the relationship between neuronal dysfunction and the development of abnormal behavior (Bates and Hockly, 2003). The recent announcement of a primate transgenic model of HD might represent a great advance, although technical challenges have to be overcome before further progress on these primate models can be made (Palfi and Jarraya, 2008; Yang et al., 2008).

Mouse models are less complicated to generate and have been proven to be very valuable tools to study HD. During the past 12 years various mouse models of HD have been generated (Menalled and Chesselet, 2002; Hickey and Chesselet, 2003). They primarily differ in the size of the expressed huntingtin fragment, the number of CAG repeats, the background strain, the promotor driving the transgene and consequently the expression of the mutant protein. Each model, therefore, exhibits a unique phenotype and replicates different aspects of the disease.

The R6/2 mouse model

The R6/2 mouse is the most extensively studied animal model of HD (Li et al., 2005). A partial explanation for its relative popularity might be its rapid disease progression. Symptoms often start within a few weeks after birth and generally result in death between 12 and 16 weeks of age. The cause of death is unknown, but cardiac failure (Mihm et al., 2007) and epileptic seizures (Mangiarini et al., 1996) have been suggested to play a role.

R6/2 mice express a part of the human *HD* gene with around 150 CAG repeats. They were created in 1996 by Mangiarini and co-authors by injection of a segment of the N-terminal part of the *IT15* gene, obtained from a single HD patient, into a CBAxC57BL/6 mouse embryo (Mangiarini et al., 1996). This transgene includes the promotor, exon 1 and a part of intron 1 and constitutes about 3% of the entire human *HD* gene. Transgene expression has been detected in many tissues in the R6/2 mouse and levels are approximately 75% of the endogenous huntingtin levels.

R6/2 mice replicate several aspects of HD, including progressive motor dysfunction, cognitive deficits, wasting of skeletal muscle and weight loss. They exhibit neuronal atrophy and dysfunction, but interestingly, no extensive cell loss is observed in their brains until the final stages of their lives, long after the onset of symptoms (Stack et al., 2005). The lack of extensive cell death in the brain of this and other mouse models of HD has led to them being widely criticized and debated. However, the R6/2 mouse remains a model that reproduces many aspects of HD, including neuronal dysfunction and phenotypic changes, and is therefore a useful tool to study certain aspects of HD. Among the pathological alterations that occur in the brains of R6/2 mice are decreases in cell soma of various neuronal populations (Klapstein et al., 2001; Petersen et al., 2005), reduced brain weight and striatal volume (Davies et al., 1997; Stack et al., 2005), decreases in synaptic proteins (Morton et al., 2001; Freeman and Morton, 2004) and altered gene transcription (Luthi-Carter et al., 2000). Moreover, neuronal nuclear aggregates are formed in many neuronal populations, e.g. in the hippocampus, hypothalamus, cortex and striatum. They can be detected as early as postnatal day 1 (Stack et al., 2005) and are present in more than 80% of all neurons in the brain by 10 weeks of age (Morton et al., 2000; Meade et al., 2002). Also other organs and tissues, such as the liver, kidney, gastro-intestinal tract, pancreas and skeletal muscle, form huntingtin aggregates (Sathasivam et al., 1999). Some of these organs are atrophic in R6/2 mice (Papalexi et al., 2005).

At birth, R6/2 mice are phenotypically indistinguishable from their wild-type littermates, but around 4 weeks of age they start displaying their first motor symptoms. When placed in an open field, R6/2 mice appear hyperactive compared to wild-type mice. Around 6 to 8 weeks of age, R6/2 mice become hypoactive instead (Carter et al., 1999; Luesse et al., 2001; Bolivar et al., 2003, 2004). They also show a decline in motor coordination and by 8 weeks of age they start exhibiting tremor, stereotypical hindlimb grooming, irregular gait and paw clasping when suspended by the tail.

Apart from displaying locomotor dysfunction, R6/2 mice also replicate the progressive weight loss that characterizes HD. From around 9 weeks of age, mice lose body weight. The cause of weight loss in mice and patients is unclear, but it is suggested to be related to increased locomotor activity, metabolic alterations and reduced caloric intake. Neuronal dysfunction in the hypothalamus could result in metabolic and appetite changes and might therefore be related to the cachexia. Hypothalamic damage has been observed in both HD patients and R6/2 mice and might also underlie other signs and symptoms, such as sleep problems and testicular atrophy. R6/2 mice mirror the disrupted sleep-wake cycle that was observed in HD patients and have a marked disruption of circadian clock gene expression in the suprachiasmatic nuclei of the hypothalamus (Morton et al., 2005; Fahrenkrug et al., 2007).

Also fertility problems that occur in R6/2 mice might be related to hypothalamic dysfunction. Male R6/2 mice display reduced fertility and are generally infertile after 8 weeks of age. Females are often completely sterile (Mangiarini et al., 1996) and males are used to breed the colony.

Methods used in this thesis

Below follows a brief description of, and comments on, the main methods used in the studies comprising this thesis. For additional information about the applied methods, see papers I-III and manuscript IV.

Mice

The studies that are included in this thesis involve different colonies of R6/2 mice: a colony at Lund University (papers I, II and III and manuscript IV), a colony at King's College London (manuscript IV), and a colony at Cambridge University (papers I and II). Some of these colonies have developed different CAG repeat lengths. R6/2 mice at King's College London have the

original number of 150 CAG repeats, whereas R6/2 mice at Lund University and Cambridge University have developed higher numbers of approximately 160-180 and 240-280 repeats respectively. R6/2 mice in these colonies show similar behavioral phenotypes, but different rates of progression, with the mice in Cambridge having the longest life span. It is unclear why progression rates differ. It could result from the differences in repeat length, although a higher number of CAG repeats usually leads to a more rapid rate of disease progression (Illarioshkin et al., 1994; Penney et al., 1997; Rosenblatt et al., 2006; Ravina et al., 2008). Differences are more likely to result from genetic variations due to inbreeding, or from differences in animal welfare conditions. Variations in the number of mice per cage, enriched versus impoverished environment, and type of food may all play a role in the survival of the mice. At Cambridge University, chow food is soaked (100 g food in 230 ml water) until the pellets are soft and fully expanded. Feeding mice daily with this type of mashed food has been found to be beneficial for long-term health of the animals (Carter, Hunt and Morton, 2000).

R6/2 mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME, USA) and maintained on a C57BL/6 background by crossbreeding wild-type females with heterozygous males. All mice were housed under standard conditions. Unless stated otherwise, mice were housed with littermates of the same gender and had *ad libitum* access to chow food (which was mashed in case of the mice at Cambridge University) and water. The temperature in the room was 21-23°C, the humidity $55 \pm 10\%$ and the light-dark cycle was kept at 12 hours light and 12 hours dark. The use of laboratory animals in all experiments was approved by the ethical committees at Lund University, King's College London and Cambridge University.

Huntington's disease patients

Three articles in this thesis (papers II and III and manuscript IV) include data obtained from HD patients. In paper II, HD patients and their relatives or caretakers were subjected to a xerostomia questionnaire. All HD patients were recruited at the Cambridge Centre for Brain Repair HD clinic and patients that were taking medications that could have drying of the mouth as a side effect were excluded from the analysis. Urine and blood samples for measuring urine osmolality and serum vasopressin (paper II) were collected at the HD clinic at the National Hospital for Neurology and Surgery in London. All patients had a positive genetic diagnosis for HD and were in different stages of the disease. Healthy controls were recruited from relatives and friends of the patients attending the clinic.

The subjects from paper III participated in a randomized placebo-controlled trial to study the effects of riluzole on disease progression. Participants were all in an early stage of the disease (defined on the UHDRS as a motor score ≥ 5 and Total Functional Capacity (TFC)-score ≥ 8) and were free of neuroleptic treatment. Weight and UHDRS scores were measured 9 times over a period of 3 years. The UHDRS questionnaire form is divided into four components assessing cognition, motor performance, behavior and functional capacity (Group, 1996; Siesling et al., 1998; Djousse et al., 2002). Briefly, the motor component consists of 31 questions rated on a scale between 0 to 4, with 4 indicating the most severe impairment. Of the 31 questions, five assess maximal dystonia and seven evaluate maximal chorea. For dystonia, the following scores were assigned: 0 if the subject exhibited no sign of dystonia, 1 for slight/intermittent, 2 for mild/ common or moderate/intermittent, 3 for moderate/common, and 4 for marked/prolonged dystonia. A comparable scoring was used for maximal chorea, rigidity and bradykinesia. The rating

of the functional capacity used information on occupation (score range: 0 to 3), finances (score range: 0 to 3), domestic chores (score range: 0 to 2), activities of daily living (score range: 0 to 3), and care level (score range: 0 to 2). Under this rating, a higher score indicates a higher function. The total sum of the scores on the five items is the TFC, which ranges from 0 to 13. The independence scale (Myers et al., 1991) ranges from 10 to 100 units (increments of 5), with 100 units indicating the highest functional level. The cognitive component of the UHDRS scale includes the Stroop Interference, Verbal Fluency, and Symbol Digit Modalities tests.

Manuscript IV involves post-mortem collected gastro-intestinal tissues of 9 HD patients. Control material consisted of biopsies of 5 age and gender matched subjects that had not been diagnosed with HD. Furthermore, manuscript IV involves 9 medication-free, early stage HD patients, and 11 healthy control subjects. These patients kept a three day food diary and were asked about their daily stool frequency and feces consistency. The groups were well matched for age and gender.

Body weight and food intake

Measurements of body weight and food consumption (papers I and III and manuscript IV) were carried out in male R6/2 mice and wild-type littermates from the Lund colony. Mice were singly housed and had *ad libitum* access to pre-weighed portions of food (15% fat on a caloric basis) and water. Experiments were performed from 6 to 12 weeks of age. As R6/2 mice have been reported to develop locomotor problems during disease progression, food was placed in a Petri dish on the bottom of the cage to facilitate feeding.

Caloric intake was measured by weighing pre-weighed portions of food one or several days later. The amount of sawdust present in the cage was minimized, so pieces of food were easily detectable. All food particles were collected by systematic screening of the entire bottom of the cage (including the sawdust) and included in the measurement. Large particles were lifted with a spoon, small particles with a forceps. Feces, sawdust or other materials that occasionally stick to the food, were carefully removed and excluded from the analysis. The weight of the food that the mice had consumed was dived by the number of study days in order to express the values as 'consumed grams per 24 h'. In papers I and III, caloric intake was measured four times per week over 24 h in male R6/2 and wild-type mice from 6 to 12 weeks of age. Body weight was measured twice per week in the same cohort of mice. In manuscript IV, food intake was measured only occasionally, several days prior to measuring whole gut transit time. This was performed in order to determine how much food each mouse had to receive during 24 h of 70% food deprivation, which was part of the whole gut transit time experiment.

In order to monitor energy intake in HD patients (manuscript IV), we asked 9 medicationfree, early stage HD patients and 11 healthy control subjects to keep a standardized food diary for three days (two days during the week and one day in the weekend). These records were analyzed by dieticians using computerized programs based on the Dutch 'NEVO tables 2006' containing information about the composition of food consumed in the Netherlands.

Water consumption and xerostomia

Water consumption (paper II) was measured in male R6/2 and wild-type mice from the Lund colony from 6 to 12 weeks of age. Mice were singly housed and had *ad libitum* access to pre-weighed portions of food (15% fat on a caloric basis) and water. Water consumption was mea-

sured by weighing the water bottle and comparing this to the weight of the full bottle that had been put in the cage 3 or 4 days earlier. Long, non-leaking drinking sprouts were used to improve access to the water bottles. The weight of the water that the mice had consumed was divided by its density (0.99) and by the number of days (3 or 4), to express the values as milliliters water consumed per mouse per day.

In addition, drinking behavior (paper II) was measured in female R6/2 and wild-type mice from the Cambridge colony. Mice were singly housed with *ad libitum* access to food and water and their behavior was monitored for 24 h in the LABORAS apparatus (Metris b.v., Hoofdorp, The Netherlands). This apparatus is able to measure total locomotor activity, as well as grooming, eating and drinking by using the vibrations induced by movements of the animal. Each mouse was tested at 7, 10 and 18 weeks of age. Immediately before being put in the LABORAS cages, all mice were tested for glycosuria using Diastix (Bayer plc., Newbury, Berks, UK).

Xerostomia was investigated in HD patients and control subjects by means of a questionnaire. This questionnaire was taken from Eisbruch et al. (Eisbruch et al., 2001) and consisted of the following eight questions:

- 1. Rate your difficulty in talking due to dryness.
- 2. Rate your difficulty in chewing due to dryness.
- 3. Rate your difficulty in swallowing solid food due to dryness.
- 4. Rate the frequency of your sleeping problems due to dryness.
- 5. Rate your mouth or throat dryness when eating food.
- 6. Rate your mouth or throat dryness while not eating.
- 7. Rate the frequency of sipping liquids to aid swallowing food.
- 8. Rate the frequency of sipping liquids for oral comfort when not eating

Subjects rated each symptom on an ordinal Likert scale from 0 to 10, with higher scores indicating greater dryness and discomfort due to dryness.

Locomotor activity

Locomotor activity (paper I) of male and female R6/2 and wild-type mice from the Lund colony was measured at 4, 8 and 12 weeks of age, using a photobeam activity cage. This cage consists of an open field with 16 x 16 photobeams in a horizontal plane that are approximately 2.5 cm apart from each other (Flex Field: San Diego Instruments, San Diego, CA, USA). Mice were placed individually in a cage and the number of times they interrupted a photobeam was used to measure their activity. As R6/2 mice display decreased exploratory behavior when placed in a novel environment (Bolivar et al., 2003), we decided to record locomotor activity for a relatively long period (4 h). Recordings were performed during the first four hours of the dark phase and the results were expressed as total number of crossed beams during this period.

Additionally, in order to investigate locomotor analysis in a more detailed fashion and over a longer time period (24 h), we also used the LABORAS apparatus. Female R6/2 and wild-type mice from the Cambridge colony were tested at 7, 10 and 18 weeks of age. The mice were singly housed with *ad libitum* access to water and food. The cage was then placed on the LABORAS apparatus for 24 h and the vibrations produced by different movements of the mouse were measured. Apart from enabling us to study locomotor behavior over 24 h, this apparatus also enabled

us to study the mice while housed under relatively normal circumstances, in a cage similar to their home environment.

Analyses of hypothalamic peptides

Papers I and II include post-mortem analysis of the hypothalamus of 4-, 8- and 12-week-old R6/2 and wild-type mice from the colony at Lund University. Mice were anaesthetized with pentobarbital (200 mg/kg, intra-peritoneal) and perfused with saline, followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 0.1 M phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Brains were post-fixed overnight in 4% PFA, and dehydrated in 20% sucrose/0.1 M PBS. They were cut in 30 µm thick sections using a freezing microtome.

Free-floating sections were processed for immunohistochemistry (IHC), using primary antibodies against MCH (diluted 1:500; Phoenix Pharmaceuticals Inc., Belmont, CA, USA), CART (diluted 1:1600; generated by Prof. M. Kuhar, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA), and POMC (diluted 1:400; Phoenix Pharmaceutical Inc. Belmont, CA, USA)(Paper I). In paper II sections were stained for vasopressin (1:5000; Chemicon International Inc., CA, USA). Tissues from R6/2 and wild-type mice were processed in parallel at all times. Staining procedures were started with rinsing the free-floating sections three times for 10 min in 0.1 M PBS. All sections that would be stained with a biotinylated secondary antibody during the following day, were placed in 3% hydrogen peroxide in 0.1 M PBS for 15 min to quench endogenous peroxidase, followed by three times rinsing for 10 min in PBS. In order to reduce background staining, all sections were incubated for 1 h in 5% normal serum and 0.3% Triton X-100 in PBS. The type of serum depended on the secondary antibody that would be used the following day. For instance, if the secondary antibody would be raised in goat, normal goat serum would be used. One series of sections was then overnight incubated at room temperature with either one of the primary antibodies in PBS.

The following day, sections were rinsed three times for 10 min in PBS. Sections were then incubated for 1 h at room temperature with the corresponding secondary antibodies in PBS. Both biotinylated (Dakopatts, Copenhagen, Denmark) and fluorescent (Alexa 488; Invitrogen, CA, USA) secondary antibodies were diluted 1:200 in PBS. Incubation was followed by rinsing three times in PBS. Bound biotinylated antibodies were then visualized using an avidin-biotin complex (ABC) system (Vectastain ABC Elite Kit; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) using 3,3-diaminobenzidine (DAB) as the chromogen. All sections were mounted on glass slides and covered with either DPX-mouting solution (used for the DAB-stained sections) or PVA-dabco solution (used for the fluorescent sections), and subsequently overlaid with cover slips.

In addition to the IHC stainings, one series of brain sections was stained with cresyl violet. These sections were analyzed with the optical dissector method of stereology to assess the total number of cells in the hypothalamus. All cells in a random sample of 2% of total volume were counted using an Olympus CAST-grid system (Olympus Danmark, A/S, Albertslund, Denmark). In IHC stained sections all stained profiles were counted in all hypothalamic sections, as the total number of these cells was low. Also cell soma diameters were analyzed from 20 randomly selected immunopositive cells per animal. The total numbers of cells was then calculated using the formula by Abercrombie and Johnson's: $N = C \times T / (T+D) \times F$, in which N = total cell number, C = number of counted cells in the sample, T = section thickness, D = average cell diameter, F = number of section series (Abercrombie and Johnson, 1946).

In addition to IHC, levels of the peptides CART, MCH, CRH, CHRF and POMC were measured in the hypothalami of 12-week-old R6/2 and wild-type mice from the Lund colony using commercially available radioimmunoassay (RIA) kits (Phoenix Pharmaceuticals Inc., Belmont, CA, USA) (paper I).

Analysis of metabolism

In paper I, several factors related to metabolic rate were measured in R6/2 and wild-type mice from the Lund colony. Oxygen consumption was measured in male mice at 6, 8, 10 and 12 weeks of age using an Oxymax system (Columbus Instruments, OH, USA). Measurements were performed for 1 hour during the light phase at 28°C. Body temperature was measured rectally with a CTD-85 thermometer (Ellab, Roedovre, Denmark) once per week, from 6 to 12 weeks of age, in a separate group of male R6/2 and wild-type mice from the Lund colony. mRNA levels of uncoupling proteins (UCP) 1 and 2 were measured in brown adipose tissue from 12-week-old R6/2 and wild-type mice by means of quantitative polymerase chain reaction (Q-PCR) and Northern blot analysis.

Analysis of the gastro-intestinal tract

Morphological analysis

In paper IV we studied the enteric nervous system (ENS) in stomachs of 12-week-old R6/2 and wild-type mice from the colony at King's College London. Mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation and their stomachs were isolated, sagitally opened with a knife and rinsed in saline to remove food. Tissues were fixed in 4% PFA, dehydrated in 20% sucrose/0.1 M PBS and embedded in O.C.T.TM-compound (Sakura Finetek Europe, Zoeterwoude, the Netherlands) and frozen. The fundus of the stomach was cut along the short axis in 10 µm thick sections using a cryostat. In order to investigate which neurons of the ENS might be affected, we stained mounted stomach sections for several markers of both neurons that inhibit and neurons that stimulate gut motility: vasoactive intestinal peptide (anti-VIP; 1:1200 dilution; Eurodiagnostica, Malmö, Sweden), tyrosine hydroxylase (TH; 1:200 dilution; Pel, Freeze Biologicals, Rogers, Arkansas, USA), calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP; 1:1200 dilution; Eurodiagnostica, Malmö, Sweden), protein gene product (PGP; 1:1600 dilution; UltraClone, Isle of Wight, UK), vesicular acetylcholine transporter (VACht; 1:4000 dilution; Chemicon, Temecula, CA, USA), CART (1:800 dilution; Santa Cruz Biotech Inc., Santa Cruz, CA, USA), and somatostatin (1:800 dilution; Immunostar Inc., Hudson, Wisconsin, USA). Antibodies were diluted in PBS containing 0.25% Triton X-100 and 0.25% bovine serum albumin. Stainings were performed overnight (at 4 °C) in a moisturized chamber. The following day, sections were incubated with secondary antibodies with specificity for either rabbit, pig or goat primary antibodies that were coupled to fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC; 1:100, Dako, West Grove, PA, USA) for 1 h at room temperature. Staining intensity was measured in the muscular layer or mucosa of the stomach wall by capturing images on a digital camera (Nikon DS 2-MV, Tokyo, Japan) using a fluorescence microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) and analyzing these with BioPix iQ2.0 software. Counting of VIP stained varicosities and cells was performed in randomly selected areas with NIS-Elements AR 2.30 software.

To investigate mucosal thickness and villus length, we stained sections of the stomach, duodenum, and colon of 12-week-old R6/2 and wild-type mice with hematoxylin/eosin (H/E). Animals were killed by cervical dislocation and organs were removed and fixed in 4% PFA and dehydrated in 20% sucrose in PBS. Stomach, duodenum and colon were sectioned along the short axis in 20 µm thick sections using a cryostat. Duodenal samples from HD patients and control subjects were also stained with H/E. Mounted sections were rinsed 3 times for 10 min in PBS and placed in deionized water for 5 min. Sections were then placed in hematoxylen (Mayers) for 5 min and briefly rinsed in deionized water and, for 20 min, in tap water. Sections were then transferred to eosin for 1 min, dehydrated in alcohol baths and xylene, and covered with DPX mounting solution and coverslips. Thickness of the mucosa in the stomach and colon, as well as villus length in the duodenum were measured using an Olympus CAST-grid system (Olympus Danmark, A/S, Albertslund, Denmark). Fourty (mice) or 30 (human) villi, or 40 mucosa parts were measured in a blinded fashion.

In addition, sections from different parts of the gut of R6/2 mice and HD patients were stained for EM48 (anti-huntingtin, 1:500 dilution; Chemicon, Temecula, CA, USA) and PGP to investigate if huntingtin aggregates occur in the gastro-intestinal tract. For the human sections, antigen retrieval was performed before the start of the staining by placing the sections in a 0.01 M citrate buffer and boiling them in a microwave (650 W) for 14 min. Further staining was performed as described above.

Gastro-intestinal function

To study gut motility, we measured whole gut transit time in 8- and 12-week-old male R6/2 and wild-type mice from the Lund colony according to a protocol that has been described by Nagakura et al. (Nagakura et al., 1996). Mice were food deprived (70% of normal food consumption) 24 h prior to experimentation. Mice received a single oral dose of 0.3 ml of a marker solution (3 g carmine in 50 ml of 1.5% methylcellulose) and were singly housed in a cage with a white sheet on the bottom. Time taken for excretion of the marker was measured.

In order to investigate whether malabsorption of nutrients occurs, male R6/2 and wild-type mice were singly housed with *ad libitum* access to water and food. Fecal output was determined at 8, 10 and 12 weeks of age from the dry mass of fecal pellets collected over 72 h. During the same period, food intake was measured as described above. Percentage food excreted as feces was calculated by dividing the fecal excretion (in grams) by food intake (in grams) and multiplying by 100. Caloric content of fecal samples was measured in a high-pressure oxygen calorimeter (performed by AnalyCen, Lidköping, Sweden). Stool water content was determined in spontaneously defecated stools in 8- and 12-week-old male R6/2 and wild-type mice from the colony at Lund University. In addition, we asked 9 medication-free HD patients and 11 healthy control subjects about their daily stool frequency and fecal consistence.

Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (papers I and II, and manuscript IV; GraphPad software Inc. San Diego, CA, USA), or SPSS version 14.0 and SAS version 9.1 (paper III; SPSS Inc, Chicago, III, USA, and SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA, respectively). In general, all statistical tests were two-tailed and values of p < 0.05 were considered to be significant.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Weight loss is not caused by decreased caloric intake or increased motor activity

Papers I, II, and III and manuscript IV

Body weight decreased significantly during a three year follow-up study in a large group of HD patients (paper III). All patients were at an early stage of the disease and free of neuroleptic treatment. Our findings are in line with previous studies indicating that weight loss occurs in HD (Sanberg et al., 1981; Morales et al., 1989; Nance and Sanders, 1996; Djousse et al., 2002; Trejo et al., 2004; Trejo et al., 2005; Mochel et al., 2007) and that it is an early disease phenomenon (Mochel et al., 2007).

Weight loss in early-stage HD patients did not correlate with indices of hyperactivity, such as UHDRS scores on total motor performance, chorea or dystonia (paper III). Weight loss is therefore unlikely to result from increased motor activity. Previous studies also found that total daily energy expenditure is unaltered in HD patients (Pratley et al., 2000) and that chorea scores do not correlate with weight loss (Djousse et al., 2002). Unaltered total daily energy expenditure might be explained by the fact that HD patients, despite having higher sedentary energy expenditure due to unwanted movements, engage less in voluntary activity (Pratley et al., 2000).

Caloric intake was unaltered in medication-free HD patients at early stages of the disease (manuscript IV). Other studies also found that caloric intake in HD patients is similar or higher compared to control subjects (Trejo et al., 2004; Mochel et al., 2007). Moreover, cognitive and behavioral scores, that could affect eating behavior and the motivation to eat, were not correlated with weight loss (paper III). This all suggests that weight loss in HD is also not due to decreased energy intake.

We confirmed all these findings in the R6/2 mouse model of HD (paper I). R6/2 mice lost weight from 9 weeks of age and onwards, but caloric intake only decreased from 11 weeks of age. Total locomotor activity, which we measured in two different R6/2 colonies with two different methods before and after onset of weight loss, was unaltered in R6/2 mice compared to wild-type littermates. This indicates that, similar to HD patients, R6/2 mice do not lose weight due to hyperactivity.

Although total motor activity was unaltered, R6/2 mice spent more time eating and drinking (paper I and II). This might be due to increased appetite or thirst, but could also indicate difficulties in eating and drinking due to impaired motor function. Previous studies have reported motor function to be impaired in late stage R6/2 mice. They display an irregular gait, resting tremor, reduced grip strength, stereotypical grooming, have impaired coordination and balance capacities, and are hypoactive (Carter et al., 1999; Hickey et al., 2002; Hickey et al., 2005; Stack et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2006). Findings of hypoactivity conflict with our findings of unaltered total locomotor activity (paper I), but this likely reflects differences in experimental set-up. Previous studies have investigated spontaneous locomotor activity in R6/2 mice for relatively short periods (<30 min) in an activity cage (Hickey et al., 2002; Hickey et al., 2005), which is a novel environment to the mice. Bolivar et al. demonstrated that R6/2 mice exhibit decreased explor-

atory behavior compared to wild-type mice when placed in a novel environment (Bolivar et al., 2003). Previous findings of hypokinesia might therefore reflect decreased exploratory behavior, rather than decreased activity. Our studies were performed for 4 or 24 h periods and changes in exploratory behavior are expected to play a smaller role during such relatively long periods. Moreover, as was demonstrated in paper II, it is important to study behavior during both day and night. Compared to wild-type mice, R6/2 mice were slightly hypokinetic during the light period, but exhibited similar activity during the dark period. Importantly, overall total motor activity during day and night combined was not significantly altered in R6/2 mice.

Increased metabolism

Paper I

As neither hyperactivity nor hypophagia can explain weight loss in HD, we hypothesized that weight loss might be caused by increased metabolism. This hypothesis is in line with previous findings of a negative energy balance in HD (Underwood et al., 2006; Goodman et al., 2008). We found increased overall oxygen consumption in R6/2 mice compared to wild-type littermates (paper I), which was recently confirmed by Goodman and co-authors (Goodman et al., 2008). Increased oxygen consumption, which is indicative of increased metabolic rate, was already present at the earliest time point tested, i.e. 3 weeks prior to the start of weight loss (paper I). At this time point, R6/2 mice probably compensate for the increased metabolism by consuming more calories, effectively preventing weight loss. However, when caloric intake drops to similar levels as those in wild-type mice, R6/2 mice might no longer be able to compensate for the increased metabolic rate and start losing weight.

The cause of increased oxygen consumption in R6/2 mice is unclear. Increased levels of thyroid hormones cause increased metabolism and oxygen consumption. Levels of these hormones have not been investigated in R6/2 mice, but several studies in HD patients have indicated that thyroid hormone levels are unaltered (Lavin et al., 1981; Goodman et al., 2008).

Hypothalamic peptides, such as agouti-related protein (AGRP), CART, orexin, and CRF, as well as pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, IL-1 β and TNF- α , are also known to affect whole body oxygen consumption (Drescher et al., 1994; Asakawa et al., 2001; Asakawa et al., 2002). Interestingly, several of these peptides, such as IL-6 (Bjorkqvist et al., 2008) and orexin (Petersen et al., 2005; Aziz et al., 2008b), are altered in HD. The mechanisms by which these factors could affect oxygen consumption are, however, complex and in most cases not well understood. It is therefore difficult to speculate upon their role in increased oxygen consumption in HD.

Increased oxygen consumption could also arise from mitochondrial defects. Several studies have shown that mitochondria are affected in HD (Browne and Beal, 2004, 2006). Complexes I-IV have decreased activity, which leads to decreased ATP production and altered membrane potential. In contrast to our findings (paper I), such changes would lead to decreased rather than increased oxygen consumption (Milakovic and Johnson, 2005; Browne and Beal, 2006). Here we found increased mRNA levels of uncoupling protein (UCP) 2 in brown adipose tissue. As UCP2 is expressed in many tissues, its increase might well explain the increased whole body oxygen consumption. Mitochondrial UCPs are mainly known for their ability to 'uncouple' oxi-

dative phosphorylation from ATP synthesis, releasing the electrochemical energy as heat. The exact function of UCP2 is unknown, but it has been shown that high levels of UCP2 protect neurons against excitotoxicity (Mattiasson et al., 2003). Increased UCP2 levels in HD could therefore reflect an adaptive rather than a pathological mechanism. Furthermore, UCP2 is expressed in many tissues and is therefore an interesting candidate with regard to increased whole body oxygen consumption.

Increased metabolism and UCP activity might cause an increase in body temperature. However, in our study we did not detect a significant increase in body temperature. Instead we observed a trend towards a lower body temperature (paper I). Others have reported hypothermia instead of hyperthermia in another transgenic mouse model of HD (Weydt et al., 2006).

Rate of weight loss increases with higher CAG repeat number *Paper III*

Interestingly, weight loss in both HD patients and R6/2 mice increased with higher CAG repeat number (paper III). This suggests that mutant huntingtin affects metabolic rate in a CAG repeat length-dependant manner. The mechanism underlying this is unclear. Mutant huntingtin could affect the hypothalamus, or other regulators of metabolism, in a CAG repeat dependant-fashion. It is also possible that mutant huntingtin directly interferes with energy homeostasis at a cellular level. We did not investigate if CAG repeat number correlates with indices of increased metabolic rate, such as oxygen consumption, but it would be interesting to address this question in future studies.

Our findings indicate that weight loss is an inherent feature of HD. As weight loss directly correlates with the number of CAG repeats, it may reflect the pathological mechanism underlying HD and serve as a biomarker of disease progression. It also indicates that patients with higher CAG repeat numbers are at increased risk of unintended weight loss and their body weight should therefore be monitored more closely.

The hypothalamus is affected

Papers I and II

The hypothalamus is an important regulator of energy metabolism and at least two of its nuclei are affected in HD patients (Kremer et al., 1990; Kremer et al., 1991; Petersen et al., 2005; Aziz et al., 2008a). We examined levels of different hypothalamic peptides in R6/2 mice using immunohistochemistry and/or radioimmunoassay (RIA) (paper I). Several hypothalamic peptides were altered (paper I). In the lateral hypothalamus we observed a progressive reduction in the number of MCH-producing neurons. Loss of MCH usually leads to increased metabolism and weight loss (Shimada et al., 1998) and could therefore contribute to weight loss in HD. However, the number of neurons immunopositive for CART, an anorectic peptide expressed in the medial and lateral hypothalamus, also progressively decreased in R6/2 mice. In the arcuate nucleus, the anorectic peptide POMC declined with disease progression. Levels of the orexigenic peptide ghrelin were reduced in the stomach of R6/2 mice. The losses of MCH, CART, POMC, and

ghrelin were confirmed by RIA. This demonstrates that hypothalamic signaling is disturbed, but it is unclear how this might affect body weight as both anorectic and orexigenic peptides were decreased.

After finding reductions of MCH, CART, and POMC in the hypothalamus of R6/2 mice, we were interested if other hypothalamic peptides are also lost. Vasopressin is of particular interest, as it its loss would result in dehydration, which could contribute to weight loss. Indeed we found a progressive loss of vasopressin in the PVN of the R6/2 hypothalamus (paper II). It is, however, unclear whether this affects water balance and body weight in the mice.

It is unknown why levels of certain hypothalamic peptides are reduced in R6/2 mice. Loss of these peptides is specific, as not all peptides that we investigated were reduced in the R6/2 hypothalamus (paper I). For example, the level of GHRF was normal. Decreased levels of hypothalamic peptides could be explained by degeneration of the neurons producing these peptides, or by transcriptional down-regulation. We performed stereological counting to investigate the total number of cells in the hypothalamus of R6/2 and wild-type mice (paper I). As we could not detect significant cell loss (paper I), we concluded that neuronal death is unlikely to underlie the reduction in cells expressing the peptides. However, the neuronal populations that were investigated in our studies, such as MCH, POMC, CART and vasopressin, are small and stereological analysis of the entire hypothalamus might not detect loss of such small populations. Transcriptional down-regulation, which has already been shown to occur in the hypothalamus of another HD mouse model (Kotliarova et al., 2005), might be a more likely cause of the loss of these peptides.

Some of the anorectic and orexigenic peptides that have been investigated in R6/2 mice, have also been studied in HD patients. The number of orexin neurons was previously found to be significantly reduced in the lateral hypothalamus of both HD patients and R6/2 mice (Petersen et al., 2005; Aziz et al., 2008a). The peptides that were investigated in this thesis have, with the exception of MCH, never been investigated in brains of HD patients. The number of MCH-positive neurons was, in contrast to our data, not significantly reduced in brains of HD patients (Aziz et al., 2008a). It has to be noted, though, that there was a trend towards a loss of these cells in patients. The R6/2 mouse model might represent a more juvenile form of HD and it is therefore possible that analysis of brains of juvenile HD patients will reveal a significant loss of MCH.

Levels of CART and ghrelin were found to be increased in respectively CSF and serum of HD patients (Popovic et al., 2004; Bjorkqvist et al., 2007), but this does not necessarily contradict our findings in R6/2 mice. Both CART and ghrelin are expressed in other areas than respectively the lateral hypotalamus and stomach, and loss of these peptides in one area could therefore be compensated for by overproduction in other regions, resulting in net increases of these peptides in CSF or serum. Moreover, it is possible that, in spite of dysfunction of some of the neurons producing these peptides, the remaining neurons might still be capable of producing enough of these peptides to increase their levels in CSF and serum.

Thirst: a novel biomarker?

Papers I and II

After finding reductions in MCH, CART, and POMC in the R6/2 hypothalamus (paper I), we were interested if other hypothalamic peptides might also be affected in HD. We were primarily interested in vasopressin, because loss of vasopressin might cause dehydration and therefore contribute to weight loss.

We found that R6/2 mice spent more time drinking and also consume more water than wildtype littermates (paper II). The alterations in drinking behavior were not due to increased total locomotor activity, as total activity levels were comparable between R6/2 and wild-type mice (paper I and II). Increased drinking was neither due to diabetes, as increased thirst already occurred before the onset of altered blood glucose (Bjorkqvist et al., 2005). Only in end-stage mice, when diabetes was present and urine osmolality increased (paper II), pancreatic dysfunction might have contributed to increased water consumption in R6/2 mice.

Having found altered drinking behavior in R6/2 mice we were interested whether HD patients suffer from a similar problem. By using a xerostomia questionnaire, we found that HD patients reported significantly more often problems related to thirst, such as difficulties in talking, chewing, and swallowing due to a dry mouth (paper II). This is in line with previous studies reporting a high incidence of choking and coughing in HD patients (Leopold and Kagel, 1985; Kagel and Leopold, 1992; Nance and Sanders, 1996). Although other symptoms of HD, such as neuromuscular dysfunction, may contribute to these problems, it is important to note that HD patients themselves feel that xerostomia is a contributing factor (paper II). Interestingly, xerostomia scores correlated positively with UHDRS scores, suggesting that xerostomia increases with disease progression and might be a biomarker of the disease.

It is unclear what the cause is of increased thirst and drinking in HD. Vasopressin stimulates thirst in response to dehydration. Serum levels of vasopressin were increased in HD patients compared to control subjects, which is in line with increased thirst. However, R6/2 mice had progressive loss of vasopressin in the PVN of the hypothalamus. It has to be emphasized though, that vasopressin was not investigated in the same tissues in both species. It is possible that vasopressin-producing neurons degenerate in brains of both HD patients and R6/2 mice, but that the unaffected neurons are still capable of producing sufficient vasopressin to increase serum levels of this peptide in response to dehydration. It would therefore be very interesting to investigate vasopressin-producing neurons in the brains of HD patients.

In addition to increased serum vasopressin, thirst could also be caused by reduced saliva production. Cholinergic neurons are important for saliva production. These neurons are affected in the HD brain (Smith et al., 2006), which might suggest that they are also affected in the periphery.

The digestive tract is affected

Paper I and manuscript IV

Various studies, including our own (paper I), suggest that weight loss in HD is not caused by decreased caloric intake (Morales et al., 1989; Trejo et al., 2004; Mochel et al., 2007). However, the absorption of nutrients across the gastro-intestinal wall has never been studied in HD, while reduced nutrient uptake might explain weight loss.

Interestingly, we found the gastro-intestinal tract to be affected in both HD patients and R6/2 mice (papers I and manuscript IV). Neurons in the ENS of both species exhibited huntingtin aggregates, which is in line with a previous study in R6/2 mice (Sathasivam et al., 1999). Although not yet addressed in a systematic way, we observed that most of these aggregates were present in the mucosa, submucosa and muscle layers of the gastro-intestinal tract and that they co-localize with neuronal markers (manuscript IV). Huntingtin aggregates were rarely present in the goblet cells lining the gastro-intestinal wall.

To further explore which neurons of the ENS are affected in HD, we performed immunohistochemical stainings for both neuropeptides that inhibit and neuropeptides that stimulate gut motility in the stomach of R6/2 mice. We found both markers of excitatory neurons, including TH, VACht, and CGRP, and markers of inhibitory neurons, such as VIP, CART, and SOM, to be decreased in R6/2 mice compared to wild-type littermates (manuscript IV). In addition, the number of PGP-positive cells, which is a general neuronal marker present in both excitatory and inhibitory neurons, was reduced, suggesting that the decrease in neuropeptides in the stomach might be due to cell loss, rather than down-regulation of specific peptides. This is in line with findings of reduced mucosal thickness in the wall of the stomach and colon in these mice. We also found the length of the villi in the duodenum of both HD patients and R6/2 mice to be decreased.

As both neuropeptides stimulating gut motility and peptides inhibiting gut motility were lost, we hypothesized that the net effect of such a general impairment of the ENS would be a reduction in bowel movements. This hypothesis was in line with what we observed. Whole gut transit time was increased in R6/2 compared to wild-type mice (manuscript IV), which suggests a reduction in gut motility.

Altered gastro-intestinal motility and decreased villus length could affect the absorption of nutrients and we therefore investigated nutrient uptake in R6/2 mice. We found that end-stage mice excreted a higher percentage of the food that they had consumed (manuscript IV), indicating that they suffer from malabsorption of nutrients. As caloric values of R6/2 and wild-type feces did not differ, malabsorption was suggested to be a general, rather than a specific impairment in nutrient uptake.

Moreover, we also found indications that gastro-intestinal function is affected in HD patients. Medication-free patients that were at an early stage of the disease reported having a significant higher number of stools than control subjects (manuscript IV). They also reported often having watery stools, which was in line with findings of increased fecal water content in R6/2 mice (manuscript IV).

Uptake of nutrients in R6/2 mice was only impaired in the end-stage, after the onset of weight loss, which suggests that malabsorption of nutrients is not the cause of weight loss in HD. Malabsorption could, however be an important contributor to the acceleration of weight loss in the end stage. It would therefore be of great interest to investigate nutrient absorption in HD patients.

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The clinical phenotype of HD is more complex and variable than a mere progressive movement disorder dominated by neostriatal pathology. Mutant huntingtin is ubiquitously expressed throughout the body and affects other brain regions and organs.

Not only the basal ganglia are affected in Huntington's disease

This thesis demonstrates that the hypothalamus is a major site for cellular dysfunction in the R6/2 mouse model of HD. Peptides such as CART, POMC, MCH and vasopressin are decreased in the hypothalamus. In addition, peripheral organs, such as the gastro-intestinal tract and adipose tissue, are affected. Enteric neurons, including those producing TH, VACht, CGRP, VIP, CART and SOM, are lost in the stomach of R6/2 mice, resulting in decreased gastro-intestinal motility. Moreover, length of intestinal villi is decreased in the duodenum of both HD patients and R6/2 mice, which could contribute to malabsorption of nutrients across the gastro-intestinal wall.

Weight loss in Huntington's disease: a multi-factorial problem

This thesis shows that weight loss commonly occurs in medication-free HD patients in an early stage of the disease. The findings suggest that weight loss in both HD patients and R6/2 mice is not caused by hyperactivity or hypophagia. Increased metabolism, possibly due to mitochondrial dysfunction, is likely to be the cause of weight loss in HD. Interestingly, weight loss in both HD patients and R6/2 mice increased with higher CAG repeat number, which suggests that mutant huntingtin affects metabolic rate in a CAG repeat length-dependant manner. Furthermore, our studies in the R6/2 mouse indicate that malabsorption of nutrients by the gastro-intestinal tract might contribute to weight loss in the end stage.

Taken together, these findings indicate that weight loss in HD is a multi-factorial problem. Loss of weight is likely caused by altered metabolism, but malabsorption of nutrients across the gastro-intestinal wall and decreased caloric intake might contribute to it in later stages of the disease. Further studies in HD patients are, however, required to verify these findings in R6/2 mice.

Weight loss and thirst: novel biomarkers in Huntington's disease

The studies included in this thesis indicate that both weight loss and thirst might be valuable biomarkers of disease progression in HD patients that possibly could be used as a read-out in drug testing.

Future perspectives

Cellular pathology in HD is not limited to the basal ganglia. Other brain regions and other organs are also affected. It is, however, unclear if these changes stand on their own, or if they are

secondary to pathology elsewhere. Several peripheral alterations could indeed be due to cellautonomous dysfunction in peripheral organs, but they could also result from hypothalamic dysfunction.

Animal models that selectively express mutant huntingtin in certain areas in the body could be helpful to address these issues. A mouse model with selective expression of mutant huntingtin only in the hypothalamus could e.g. contribute to unraveling the role of the hypothalamus in several non-motor symptoms of HD, including weight loss. A balanced hormone replacement therapy might for instance be beneficial in HD, but as long as the role of the hypothalamus in HD symptomatology is unclear, this remains highly speculative.

REFERENCES

- Abercrombie, M., Johnson, M.L., 1946. Quantitative histology of Wallerian degeneration: I. Nuclear population in rabbit sciatic nerve. J Anat. 80 (Pt 1), 37-50.
- Albin, R.L., Young, A.B., Penney, J.B., 1989. The functional anatomy of basal ganglia disorders. Trends Neurosci. 12 (10), 366-375.
- Aminoff, M.J., Gross, M., 1973. A study of vasomotor function in patients with Huntington's chorea. Clin Sci Mol Med. 45 (3), 20P.
- Aminoff, M.J., Gross, M., 1974. Vasoregulatory activity in patients with Huntington's chorea. J Neurol Sci. 21 (1), 33-38.
- Anderson, A.N., Roncaroli, F., Hodges, A., Deprez, M., Turkheimer, F.E., 2008. Chromosomal profiles of gene expression in Huntington's disease. Brain. 131 (Pt 2), 381-388.
- Anderson, K.E., Marder, K.S., 2001. An overview of psychiatric symptoms in Huntington's disease. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 3 (5), 379-388.
- Andreassen, O.A., Dedeoglu, A., Stanojevic, V., Hughes, D.B., Browne, S.E., Leech, C.A., Ferrante, R.J., Habener, J.F., Beal, M.F., Thomas, M.K., 2002. Huntington's disease of the endocrine pancreas: insulin deficiency and diabetes mellitus due to impaired insulin gene expression. Neurobiol Dis. 11 (3), 410-424.
- Andrich, J., Schmitz, T., Saft, C., Postert, T., Kraus, P., Epplen, J.T., Przuntek, H., Agelink, M.W., 2002. Autonomic nervous system function in Huntington's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 72 (6), 726-731.
- Arenas, J., Campos, Y., Ribacoba, R., Martin, M.A., Rubio, J.C., Ablanedo, P., Cabello, A., 1998. Complex I defect in muscle from patients with Huntington's disease. Ann Neurol. 43 (3), 397-400.
- Arrasate, M., Mitra, S., Schweitzer, E.S., Segal, M.R., Finkbeiner, S., 2004. Inclusion body formation reduces levels of mutant huntingtin and the risk of neuronal death. Nature. 431 (7010), 805-810.
- Arzberger, T., Krampfl, K., Leimgruber, S., Weindl, A., 1997. Changes of NMDA receptor subunit (NR1, NR2B) and glutamate transporter (GLT1) mRNA expression in Huntington's disease--an in situ hybridization study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 56 (4), 440-454.
- Asakawa, A., Inui, A., Yuzuriha, H., Nagata, T., Kaga, T., Ueno, N., Fujino, M.A., Kasuga, M., 2001. Cocaine-amphetamine-regulated transcript influences energy metabolism, anxiety and gastric emptying in mice. Horm Metab Res. 33 (9), 554-558.
- Asakawa, A., Inui, A., Goto, K., Yuzuriha, H., Takimoto, Y., Inui, T., Katsuura, G., Fujino, M.A., Meguid, M.M., Kasuga, M., 2002. Effects of agouti-related protein, orexin and melanin-concentrating hormone on oxygen consumption in mice. Int J Mol Med. 10 (4), 523-525.
- Augood, S.J., Faull, R.L., Emson, P.C., 1997. Dopamine D1 and D2 receptor gene expression in the striatum in Huntington's disease. Ann Neurol. 42 (2), 215-221.
- Aylward, E.H., Li, Q., Stine, O.C., Ranen, N., Sherr, M., Barta, P.E., Bylsma, F.W., Pearlson, G.D., Ross, C.A., 1997. Longitudinal change in basal ganglia volume in patients with Huntington's disease. Neurology. 48 (2), 394-399.
- Aylward, E.H., Codori, A.M., Rosenblatt, A., Sherr, M., Brandt, J., Stine, O.C., Barta, P.E., Pearlson, G.D., Ross, C.A., 2000. Rate of caudate atrophy in presymptomatic and symptomatic stages of Huntington's disease. Mov Disord. 15 (3), 552-560.
- Aylward, E.H., Rosenblatt, A., Field, K., Yallapragada, V., Kieburtz, K., McDermott, M., Raymond, L.A., Almqvist, E.W., Hayden, M., Ross, C.A., 2003. Caudate volume as an outcome measure in clinical trials for Huntington's disease: a pilot study. Brain Res Bull. 62 (2), 137-141.

- Aziz, A., Fronczek, R., Maat-Schieman, M., Unmehopa, U., Roelandse, F., Overeem, S., van Duinen, S., Lammers, G.J., Swaab, D., Roos, R., 2008a. Hypocretin and Melanin-Concentrating Hormone in Patients with Huntington Disease. Brain Pathol.
- Aziz, N.A., Swaab, D.F., Pijl, H., Roos, R.A., 2007. Hypothalamic dysfunction and neuroendocrine and metabolic alterations in Huntington's disease: clinical consequences and therapeutic implications. Rev Neurosci. 18 (3-4), 223-251.
- Aziz, N.A., van der Burg, J.M.M., Landwehrmeyer, G.B., Brundin, P., Stijnen, T., Roos, R.A.C., 2008b. Weight loss in Huntington's disease increases with higher CAG repeat number. Neurology. Accepted manuscript.
- Bacos, K., Bjorkqvist, M., Petersen, A., Luts, L., Maat-Schieman, M.L., Roos, R.A., Sundler, F., Brundin, P., Mulder, H., Wierup, N., 2008. Islet beta-cell area and hormone expression are unaltered in Huntington's disease. Histochem Cell Biol. 129 (5), 623-629.
- Badman, M.K., Flier, J.S., 2005. The gut and energy balance: visceral allies in the obesity wars. Science. 307 (5717), 1909-1914.
- Bates, G.P., Hockly, E., 2003. Experimental therapeutics in Huntington's disease: are models useful for therapeutic trials? Curr Opin Neurol. 16 (4), 465-470.
- Bates, G.P., Harper, P.S., Jones, L., 2002. Huntington's disease. Oxford University Press. (3rd Edition), 15.
- Beal, M.F., Matson, W.R., Swartz, K.J., Gamache, P.H., Bird, E.D., 1990. Kynurenine pathway measurements in Huntington's disease striatum: evidence for reduced formation of kynurenic acid. J Neurochem. 55 (4), 1327-1339.
- Beal, M.F., Kowall, N.W., Ellison, D.W., Mazurek, M.F., Swartz, K.J., Martin, J.B., 1986. Replication of the neurochemical characteristics of Huntington's disease by quinolinic acid. Nature. 321 (6066), 168-171.
- Berrios, G.E., Wagle, A.C., Markova, I.S., Wagle, S.A., Ho, L.W., Rubinsztein, D.C., Whittaker, J., Ffrench-Constant, C., Kershaw, A., Rosser, A., Bak, T., Hodges, J.R., 2001. Psychiatric symptoms and CAG repeats in neurologically asymptomatic Huntington's disease gene carriers. Psychiatry Res. 102 (3), 217-225.
- Bjorkqvist, M., Leavitt, B.R., Nielsen, J.E., Landwehrmeyer, B., Ecker, D., Mulder, H., Brundin, P., Petersen, A., 2007. Cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript is increased in Huntington disease. Mov Disord. 22 (13), 1952-1954.
- Bjorkqvist, M., Fex, M., Renstrom, E., Wierup, N., Petersen, A., Gil, J., Bacos, K., Popovic, N., Li, J.Y., Sundler, F., Brundin, P., Mulder, H., 2005. The R6/2 transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease develops diabetes due to deficient {beta}-cell mass and exocytosis. Hum Mol Genet. 14 (5), 565-574.
- Bjorkqvist, M., Petersen, A., Bacos, K., Isaacs, J., Norlen, P., Gil, J., Popovic, N., Sundler, F., Bates, G.P., Tabrizi, S.J., Brundin, P., Mulder, H., 2006. Progressive Alterations in the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis in the R6/2 Transgenic Mouse Model of Huntington's disease. Hum Mol Genet.
- Bjorkqvist, M., Wild, E.J., Thiele, J., Silvestroni, A., Andre, R., Lahiri, N., Raibon, E., Lee, R.V., Benn, C.L., Soulet, D., Magnusson, A., Woodman, B., Landles, C., Pouladi, M.A., Hayden, M.R., Khalili-Shirazi, A., Lowdell, M.W., Brundin, P., Bates, G.P., Leavitt, B.R., Moller, T., Tabrizi, S.J., 2008. A novel pathogenic pathway of immune activation detectable before clinical onset in Huntington's disease. J Exp Med. 205 (8), 1869-1877.
- Bolivar, V.J., Manley, K., Messer, A., 2003. Exploratory activity and fear conditioning abnormalities develop early in R6/2 Huntington's disease transgenic mice. Behav Neurosci. 117 (6), 1233-1242.
- Bolivar, V.J., Manley, K., Messer, A., 2004. Early exploratory behavior abnormalities in R6/1 Huntington's disease transgenic mice. Brain Res. 1005 (1-2), 29-35.
- Bonelli, C., Bonelli, R., Eichinger, M., Suppan, K., Reisecker, F., Leb, G., Obermayer-Pietsch, B., 2002. Bone density and bone turnover in Huntington's disease. . Osteoporosis Int 13, S64.

- Bonilla, E., Estevez, J., Suarez, H., Morales, L.M., Chacin de Bonilla, L., Villalobos, R., Davila, J.O., 1991. Serum ferritin deficiency in Huntington's disease patients. Neurosci Lett. 129 (1), 22-24.
- Borovecki, F., Lovrecic, L., Zhou, J., Jeong, H., Then, F., Rosas, H.D., Hersch, S.M., Hogarth, P., Bouzou, B., Jensen, R.V., Krainc, D., 2005. Genome-wide expression profiling of human blood reveals biomarkers for Huntington's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 102 (31), 11023-11028.
- Braak, H., Braak, E., 1992. Allocortical involvement in Huntington's disease. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 18 (6), 539-547.
- Brandt, J., Bylsma, F.W., Gross, R., Stine, O.C., Ranen, N., Ross, C.A., 1996. Trinucleotide repeat length and clinical progression in Huntington's disease. Neurology. 46 (2), 527-531.
- Brignull, H.R., Morley, J.F., Garcia, S.M., Morimoto, R.I., 2006. Modeling polyglutamine pathogenesis in C. elegans. Methods Enzymol. 412 256-282.
- Browne, S.E., Beal, M.F., 2004. The energetics of Huntington's disease. Neurochem Res. 29 (3), 531-546.
- Browne, S.E., Beal, M.F., 2006. Oxidative damage in Huntington's disease pathogenesis. Antioxid Redox Signal. 8 (11-12), 2061-2073.
- Bruyn, G.W., 1968. Huntington's chorea. In Handbook of Clinical Neurology, PJ Vinken and GW Bruyn, eds. Amsterdam: North-Holland Publishing Co). 298-378.
- Bruyn, G.W., von Wolferen, W.J., 1973. Pathogenesis of Huntington's chorea. Lancet. 1 (7816), 1382.
- Butters, N., Sax, D., Montgomery, K., Tarlow, S., 1978. Comparison of the neuropsychological deficits associated with early and advanced Huntington's disease. Arch Neurol. 35 (9), 585-589.
- Carter, R.J., Lione, L.A., Humby, T., Mangiarini, L., Mahal, A., Bates, G.P., Dunnett, S.B., Morton, A.J., 1999. Characterization of progressive motor deficits in mice transgenic for the human Huntington's disease mutation. J Neurosci. 19 (8), 3248-3257.
- Cass, W.A., 1997. Decreases in evoked overflow of dopamine in rat striatum after neurotoxic doses of methamphetamine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 280 (1), 105-113.
- Cattaneo, E., Zuccato, C., Tartari, M., 2005. Normal huntingtin function: an alternative approach to Huntington's disease. Nat Rev Neurosci. 6 (12), 919-930.
- Cepeda, C., Wu, N., Andre, V.M., Cummings, D.M., Levine, M.S., 2007. The corticostriatal pathway in Huntington's disease. Prog Neurobiol. 81 (5-6), 253-271.
- Chan, E.Y., Nasir, J., Gutekunst, C.A., Coleman, S., Maclean, A., Maas, A., Metzler, M., Gertsenstein, M., Ross, C.A., Nagy, A., Hayden, M.R., 2002. Targeted disruption of Huntingtin-associated protein-1 (Hap1) results in postnatal death due to depressed feeding behavior. Hum Mol Genet. 11 (8), 945-959.
- Chesselet, M.F., Delfs, J.M., 1996. Basal ganglia and movement disorders: an update. Trends Neurosci. 19 (10), 417-422.
- Chiang, M.C., Chen, H.M., Lee, Y.H., Chang, H.H., Wu, Y.C., Soong, B.W., Chen, C.M., Wu, Y.R., Liu, C.S., Niu, D.M., Wu, J.Y., Chen, Y.T., Chern, Y., 2007. Dysregulation of C/EBPalpha by mutant Huntingtin causes the urea cycle deficiency in Huntington's disease. Hum Mol Genet. 16 (5), 483-498.
- Chokroverty, S., 1996. Sleep and degenerative neurologic disorders. Neurol Clin. 14 (4), 807-826.
- Ciammola, A., Sassone, J., Alberti, L., Meola, G., Mancinelli, E., Russo, M.A., Squitieri, F., Silani, V., 2006. Increased apoptosis, Huntingtin inclusions and altered differentiation in muscle cell cultures from Huntington's disease subjects. Cell Death Differ. 13 (12), 2068-2078.
- Cicchetti, F., Gould, P.V., Parent, A., 1996. Sparing of striatal neurons coexpressing calretinin and substance P (NK1) receptor in Huntington's disease. Brain Res. 730 (1-2), 232-237.
- Coll, A.P., Farooqi, I.S., O'Rahilly, S., 2007. The hormonal control of food intake. Cell. 129 (2), 251-262.
- Coyle, J.T., Schwarcz, R., 1976. Lesion of striatal neurones with kainic acid provides a model for Huntington's chorea. Nature. 263 (5574), 244-246.
- Craufurd, D., Thompson, J.C., Snowden, J.S., 2001. Behavioral changes in Huntington Disease. Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol. 14 (4), 219-226.

- Crupi, D., Ghilardi, M.F., Mosiello, C., Di Rocco, A., Quartarone, A., Battaglia, F., 2008. Cortical and brainstem LTP-like plasticity in Huntington's disease. Brain Res Bull. 75 (1), 107-114.
- Cudkowicz, M., Kowall, N.W., 1990. Degeneration of pyramidal projection neurons in Huntington's disease cortex. Ann Neurol. 27 (2), 200-204.
- Dalrymple, A., Wild, E.J., Joubert, R., Sathasivam, K., Bjorkqvist, M., Petersen, A., Jackson, G.S., Isaacs, J.D., Kristiansen, M., Bates, G.P., Leavitt, B.R., Keir, G., Ward, M., Tabrizi, S.J., 2007. Proteomic profiling of plasma in Huntington's disease reveals neuroinflammatory activation and biomarker candidates. J Proteome Res. 6 (7), 2833-2840.
- Davies, S.W., Turmaine, M., Cozens, B.A., DiFiglia, M., Sharp, A.H., Ross, C.A., Scherzinger, E., Wanker, E.E., Mangiarini, L., Bates, G.P., 1997. Formation of neuronal intranuclear inclusions underlies the neurological dysfunction in mice transgenic for the HD mutation. Cell. 90 (3), 537-548.
- de la Monte, S.M., Vonsattel, J.P., Richardson, E.P., Jr., 1988. Morphometric demonstration of atrophic changes in the cerebral cortex, white matter, and neostriatum in Huntington's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 47 (5), 516-525.
- Deckel, A.W., Cohen, D., Duckrow, R., 1998. Cerebral blood flow velocity decreases during cognitive stimulation in Huntington's disease. Neurology. 51 (6), 1576-1583.
- Deckel, A.W., Weiner, R., Szigeti, D., Clark, V., Vento, J., 2000. Altered patterns of regional cerebral blood flow in patients with Huntington's disease: a SPECT study during rest and cognitive or motor activation. J Nucl Med. 41 (5), 773-780.
- Djousse, L., Knowlton, B., Cupples, L.A., Marder, K., Shoulson, I., Myers, R.H., 2002. Weight loss in early stage of Huntington's disease. Neurology. 59 (9), 1325-1330.
- Drescher, V.S., Chen, H.L., Romsos, D.R., 1994. Corticotropin-releasing hormone decreases feeding, oxygen consumption and activity of genetically obese (ob/ob) and lean mice. J Nutr. 124 (4), 524-530.
- Duan, W., Guo, Z., Jiang, H., Ware, M., Li, X.J., Mattson, M.P., 2003. Dietary restriction normalizes glucose metabolism and BDNF levels, slows disease progression, and increases survival in huntingtin mutant mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100 (5), 2911-2916.
- Duyao, M.P., Auerbach, A.B., Ryan, A., Persichetti, F., Barnes, G.T., McNeil, S.M., Ge, P., Vonsattel, J.P., Gusella, J.F., Joyner, A.L., et al., 1995. Inactivation of the mouse Huntington's disease gene homolog Hdh. Science. 269 (5222), 407-410.
- Eisbruch, A., Kim, H.M., Terrell, J.E., Marsh, L.H., Dawson, L.A., Ship, J.A., 2001. Xerostomia and its predictors following parotid-sparing irradiation of head-and-neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 50 (3), 695-704.
- Elias, C.F., Lee, C.E., Kelly, J.F., Ahima, R.S., Kuhar, M., Saper, C.B., Elmquist, J.K., 2001. Characterization of CART neurons in the rat and human hypothalamus. J Comp Neurol. 432 (1), 1-19.
- Engelender, S., Sharp, A.H., Colomer, V., Tokito, M.K., Lanahan, A., Worley, P., Holzbaur, E.L., Ross, C.A., 1997. Huntingtin-associated protein 1 (HAP1) interacts with the p150Glued subunit of dynactin. Hum Mol Genet. 6 (13), 2205-2212.
- Fahrenkrug, J., Popovic, N., Georg, B., Brundin, P., Hannibal, J., 2007. Decreased VIP and VPAC2 receptor expression in the biological clock of the R6/2 Huntington's disease mouse. J Mol Neurosci. 31 (2), 139-148.
- Fain, J.N., Del Mar, N.A., Meade, C.A., Reiner, A., Goldowitz, D., 2001. Abnormalities in the functioning of adipocytes from R6/2 mice that are transgenic for the Huntington's disease mutation. Hum Mol Genet. 10 (2), 145-152.
- Farrer, L.A., 1985. Diabetes mellitus in Huntington disease. Clin Genet. 27 (1), 62-67.
- Farrer, L.A., Meaney, F.J., 1985. An anthropometric assessment of Huntington's disease patients and families. Am J Phys Anthropol. 67 (3), 185-194.
- Farrer, L.A., Yu, P.L., 1985. Anthropometric discrimination among affected, at-risk, and not-at-risk individuals in families with Huntington disease. Am J Med Genet. 21 (2), 307-316.

- Feigin, A., Tang, C., Ma, Y., Mattis, P., Zgaljardic, D., Guttman, M., Paulsen, J.S., Dhawan, V., Eidelberg, D., 2007. Thalamic metabolism and symptom onset in preclinical Huntington's disease. Brain. 130 (Pt 11), 2858-2867.
- Fennema-Notestine, C., Archibald, S.L., Jacobson, M.W., Corey-Bloom, J., Paulsen, J.S., Peavy, G.M., Gamst, A.C., Hamilton, J.M., Salmon, D.P., Jernigan, T.L., 2004. In vivo evidence of cerebellar atrophy and cerebral white matter loss in Huntington disease. Neurology. 63 (6), 989-995.
- Ferrante, R.J., Kowall, N.W., Beal, M.F., Richardson, E.P., Jr., Bird, E.D., Martin, J.B., 1985. Selective sparing of a class of striatal neurons in Huntington's disease. Science. 230 (4725), 561-563.
- Ferrante, R.J., Kowall, N.W., Beal, M.F., Martin, J.B., Bird, E.D., Richardson, E.P., Jr., 1987. Morphologic and histochemical characteristics of a spared subset of striatal neurons in Huntington's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 46 (1), 12-27.
- Flier, J.S., 2004. Obesity wars: molecular progress confronts an expanding epidemic. Cell. 116 (2), 337-350.
- Freeman, W., Morton, A.J., 2004. Differential messenger RNA expression of complexins in mouse brain. Brain Res Bull. 63 (1), 33-44.
- Gil, J.M., Mohapel, P., Araujo, I.M., Popovic, N., Li, J.Y., Brundin, P., Petersen, A., 2005. Reduced hippocampal neurogenesis in R6/2 transgenic Huntington's disease mice. Neurobiol Dis.
- Gomez-Anson, B., Alegret, M., Munoz, E., Monte, G.C., Alayrach, E., Sanchez, A., Boada, M., Tolosa, E., 2008. Prefrontal cortex volume reduction on MRI in preclinical Huntington's disease relates to visuomotor performance and CAG number. Parkinsonism Relat Disord.
- Goodman, A.O., Murgatroyd, P.R., Medina-Gomez, G., Wood, N.I., Finer, N., Vidal-Puig, A.J., Morton, A.J., Barker, R.A., 2008. The metabolic profile of early Huntington's disease--a combined human and transgenic mouse study. Exp Neurol. 210 (2), 691-698.
- Group, Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group., 1996. Unified Huntington's Disease Rating Scale: reliability and consistency. Huntington Study Group. Mov Disord. 11 (2), 136-142.
- Group, Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group., 1993. A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on Huntington's disease chromosomes. Cell. 72 (6), 971-983.
- Gu, M., Gash, M.T., Mann, V.M., Javoy-Agid, F., Cooper, J.M., Schapira, A.H., 1996. Mitochondrial defect in Huntington's disease caudate nucleus. Ann Neurol. 39 (3), 385-389.
- Gusella, J.F., MacDonald, M.E., Ambrose, C.M., Duyao, M.P., 1993. Molecular genetics of Huntington's disease. Arch Neurol. 50 (11), 1157-1163.
- Halliday, G.M., McRitchie, D.A., Macdonald, V., Double, K.L., Trent, R.J., McCusker, E., 1998. Regional specificity of brain atrophy in Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol. 154 (2), 663-672.
- Hansson, O., Peters n, A., Leist, M., Nicotera, P., Castilho, R.F., Brundin, P., 1999. Transgenic mice expressing a Huntington's disease mutation are resistant to quinolinic acid-induced striatal excitotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 96 (15), 8727-8732.
- Hansson, O., Guatteo, E., Mercuri, N.B., Bernardi, G., Li, X.J., Castilho, R.F., Brundin, P., 2001. Resistance to NMDA toxicity correlates with appearance of nuclear inclusions, behavioural deficits and changes in calcium homeostasis in mice transgenic for exon 1 of the huntington gene. Eur J Neurosci. 14 (9), 1492-1504.
- Harper, P.S., 1992. The epidemiology of Huntington's disease. Hum Genet. 89 (4), 365-376.
- Hedreen, J.C., Peyser, C.E., Folstein, S.E., Ross, C.A., 1991. Neuronal loss in layers V and VI of cerebral cortex in Huntington's disease. Neurosci Lett. 133 (2), 257-261.
- Heinsen, H., Strik, M., Bauer, M., Luther, K., Ulmar, G., Gangnus, D., Jungkunz, G., Eisenmenger, W., Gotz, M., 1994. Cortical and striatal neurone number in Huntington's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 88 (4), 320-333.
- Heinsen, H., Rub, U., Bauer, M., Ulmar, G., Bethke, B., Schuler, M., Bocker, F., Eisenmenger, W., Gotz, M., Korr, H., Schmitz, C., 1999. Nerve cell loss in the thalamic mediodorsal nucleus in Huntington's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 97 (6), 613-622.

- Heinsen, H., Rub, U., Gangnus, D., Jungkunz, G., Bauer, M., Ulmar, G., Bethke, B., Schuler, M., Bocker, F., Eisenmenger, W., Gotz, M., Strik, M., 1996. Nerve cell loss in the thalamic centromedian-parafascicular complex in patients with Huntington's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 91 (2), 161-168.
- Helmlinger, D., Yvert, G., Picaud, S., Merienne, K., Sahel, J., Mandel, J.L., Devys, D., 2002. Progressive retinal degeneration and dysfunction in R6 Huntington's disease mice. Hum Mol Genet. 11 (26), 3351-3359.
- Heuser, I.J., Chase, T.N., Mouradian, M.M., 1991. The limbic-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in Huntington's disease. Biol Psychiatry. 30 (9), 943-952.
- Hickey, M.A., Chesselet, M.F., 2003. The use of transgenic and knock-in mice to study Huntington's disease. Cytogenet Genome Res. 100 (1-4), 276-286.
- Hickey, M.A., Reynolds, G.P., Morton, A.J., 2002. The role of dopamine in motor symptoms in the R6/2 transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. J Neurochem. 81 (1), 46-59.
- Hickey, M.A., Gallant, K., Gross, G.G., Levine, M.S., Chesselet, M.F., 2005. Early behavioral deficits in R6/2 mice suitable for use in preclinical drug testing. Neurobiol Dis. 20 (1), 1-11.
- Hoogeveen, A.T., Willemsen, R., Meyer, N., de Rooij, K.E., Roos, R.A., van Ommen, G.J., Galjaard, H., 1993. Characterization and localization of the Huntington disease gene product. Hum Mol Genet. 2 (12), 2069-2073.
- Hunt, M.J., Morton, A.J., 2005. Atypical diabetes associated with inclusion formation in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease is not improved by treatment with hypoglycaemic agents. Exp Brain Res. 166 (2), 220-229.
- Huntington, G., 1872. On Chorea. Medical and Surgical Reporter. 26 320-321.
- Hurelbrink, C.B., Lewis, S.J., Barker, R.A., 2005. The use of the Actiwatch-Neurologica system to objectively assess the involuntary movements and sleep-wake activity in patients with mild-moderate Huntington's disease. J Neurol. 252 (6), 642-647.
- Hurlbert, M.S., Zhou, W., Wasmeier, C., Kaddis, F.G., Hutton, J.C., Freed, C.R., 1999. Mice transgenic for an expanded CAG repeat in the Huntington's disease gene develop diabetes. Diabetes. 48 (3), 649-651.
- Illarioshkin, S.N., Igarashi, S., Onodera, O., Markova, E.D., Nikolskaya, N.N., Tanaka, H., Chabrashwili, T.Z., Insarova, N.G., Endo, K., Ivanova-Smolenskaya, I.A., et al., 1994. Trinucleotide repeat length and rate of progression of Huntington's disease. Ann Neurol. 36 (4), 630-635.
- Jackson, G.R., Salecker, I., Dong, X., Yao, X., Arnheim, N., Faber, P.W., MacDonald, M.E., Zipursky, S.L., 1998. Polyglutamine-expanded human huntingtin transgenes induce degeneration of Drosophila photoreceptor neurons. Neuron. 21 (3), 633-642.
- Jakel, R.J., Maragos, W.F., 2000. Neuronal cell death in Huntington's disease: a potential role for dopamine. Trends Neurosci. 23 (6), 239-245.
- Jeste, D.V., Barban, L., Parisi, J., 1984. Reduced Purkinje cell density in Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol. 85 (1), 78-86.
- Johnson, M.A., Rajan, V., Miller, C.E., Wightman, R.M., 2006. Dopamine release is severely compromised in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease. J Neurochem. 97 (3), 737-746.
- Josefsen, K., Nielsen, M.D., Jorgensen, K.H., Bock, T., Norremolle, A., Sorensen, S.A., Naver, B., Hasholt, L., 2008. Impaired glucose tolerance in the R6/1 transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. J Neuroendocrinol. 20 (2), 165-172.
- Kagel, M.C., Leopold, N.A., 1992. Dysphagia in Huntington's disease: a 16-year retrospective. Dysphagia. 7 (2), 106-114.
- Kalchman, M.A., Koide, H.B., McCutcheon, K., Graham, R.K., Nichol, K., Nishiyama, K., Kazemi-Esfarjani, P., Lynn, F.C., Wellington, C., Metzler, M., Goldberg, Y.P., Kanazawa, I., Gietz, R.D., Hayden, M.R., 1997. HIP1, a human homologue of S. cerevisiae Sla2p, interacts with membrane-associated huntingtin in the brain. Nat Genet. 16 (1), 44-53.
- Kandel, E.R., Schwartz, J.H., Jessell, T.M., 2000. Principles of neural science. McGraw-Hill Companies. 4th Edition 853-867.

- Kassubek, J., Gaus, W., Landwehrmeyer, G.B., 2004. Evidence for more widespread cerebral pathology in early HD: an MRI-based morphometric analysis. Neurology. 62 (3), 523-524; author reply 524.
- Kassubek, J., Juengling, F.D., Ecker, D., Landwehrmeyer, G.B., 2005. Thalamic atrophy in Huntington's disease co-varies with cognitive performance: a morphometric MRI analysis. Cereb Cortex. 15 (6), 846-853.
- Katsuki, H., Akaike, A., 2004. Excitotoxic degeneration of hypothalamic orexin neurons in slice culture. Neurobiol Dis. 15 (1), 61-69.
- Kirkwood, S.C., Su, J.L., Conneally, P., Foroud, T., 2001. Progression of symptoms in the early and middle stages of Huntington disease. Arch Neurol. 58 (2), 273-278.
- Klapstein, G.J., Fisher, R.S., Zanjani, H., Cepeda, C., Jokel, E.S., Chesselet, M.F., Levine, M.S., 2001. Electrophysiological and morphological changes in striatal spiny neurons in R6/2 Huntington's disease transgenic mice. J Neurophysiol. 86 (6), 2667-2677.
- Kobal, J., Meglic, B., Mesec, A., Peterlin, B., 2004. Early sympathetic hyperactivity in Huntington's disease. Eur J Neurol. 11 (12), 842-848.
- Kosinski, C.M., Schlangen, C., Gellerich, F.N., Gizatullina, Z., Deschauer, M., Schiefer, J., Young, A.B., Landwehrmeyer, G.B., Toyka, K.V., Sellhaus, B., Lindenberg, K.S., 2007. Myopathy as a first symptom of Huntington's disease in a Marathon runner. Mov Disord. 22 (11), 1637-1640.
- Kotliarova, S., Jana, N.R., Sakamoto, N., Kurosawa, M., Miyazaki, H., Nekooki, M., Doi, H., Machida, Y., Wong, H.K., Suzuki, T., Uchikawa, C., Kotliarov, Y., Uchida, K., Nagao, Y., Nagaoka, U., Tamaoka, A., Oyanagi, K., Oyama, F., Nukina, N., 2005. Decreased expression of hypothalamic neuropeptides in Huntington disease transgenic mice with expanded polyglutamine-EGFP fluorescent aggregates. J Neurochem. 93 (3), 641-653.
- Kremer, B., Tallaksen-Greene, S.J., Albin, R.L., 1993. AMPA and NMDA binding sites in the hypothalamic lateral tuberal nucleus: implications for Huntington's disease. Neurology. 43 (8), 1593-1595.
- Kremer, H.P., Roos, R.A., Dingjan, G., Marani, E., Bots, G.T., 1990. Atrophy of the hypothalamic lateral tuberal nucleus in Huntington's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 49 (4), 371-382.
- Kremer, H.P., Roos, R.A., Dingjan, G.M., Bots, G.T., Bruyn, G.W., Hofman, M.A., 1991. The hypothalamic lateral tuberal nucleus and the characteristics of neuronal loss in Huntington's disease. Neurosci Lett. 132 (1), 101-104.
- Landles, C., Bates, G.P., 2004. Huntingtin and the molecular pathogenesis of Huntington's disease. Fourth in molecular medicine review series. EMBO Rep. 5 (10), 958-963.
- Lanska, D.J., Lanska, M.J., Lavine, L., Schoenberg, B.S., 1988. Conditions associated with Huntington's disease at death. A case-control study. Arch Neurol. 45 (8), 878-880.
- Lavin, P.J., Bone, I., Sheridan, P., 1981. Studies of hypothalamic function in Huntington's chorea. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 44 (5), 414-418.
- Lazic, S.E., Grote, H., Armstrong, R.J., Blakemore, C., Hannan, A.J., van Dellen, A., Barker, R.A., 2004. Decreased hippocampal cell proliferation in R6/1 Huntington's mice. Neuroreport. 15 (5), 811-813.
- Lazic, S.E., Grote, H.E., Blakemore, C., Hannan, A.J., van Dellen, A., Phillips, W., Barker, R.A., 2006. Neurogenesis in the R6/1 transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease: effects of environmental enrichment. Eur J Neurosci. 23 (7), 1829-1838.
- Leavitt, B.R., Guttman, J.A., Hodgson, J.G., Kimel, G.H., Singaraja, R., Vogl, A.W., Hayden, M.R., 2001. Wild-type huntingtin reduces the cellular toxicity of mutant huntingtin in vivo. Am J Hum Genet. 68 (2), 313-324.
- Leblhuber, F., Peichl, M., Neubauer, C., Reisecker, F., Steinparz, F.X., Windhager, E., Maschek, W., 1995. Serum dehydroepiandrosterone and cortisol measurements in Huntington's chorea. J Neurol Sci. 132 (1), 76-79.
- Leopold, N.A., Kagel, M.C., 1985. Dysphagia in Huntington's disease. Arch Neurol. 42 (1), 57-60.
- Lerch, J.P., Carroll, J.B., Dorr, A., Spring, S., Evans, A.C., Hayden, M.R., Sled, J.G., Henkelman, R.M., 2008. Cortical thickness measured from MRI in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington's disease. Neuroimage. 41 (2), 243-251.

- Li, H., Wyman, T., Yu, Z.X., Li, S.H., Li, X.J., 2003a. Abnormal association of mutant huntingtin with synaptic vesicles inhibits glutamate release. Hum Mol Genet. 12 (16), 2021-2030.
- Li, J.Y., Popovic, N., Brundin, P., 2005. The use of the R6 transgenic mouse models of Huntington's disease in attempts to develop novel therapeutic strategies. NeuroRx. 2 (3), 447-464.
- Li, S.H., Li, X.J., 2004. Huntingtin-protein interactions and the pathogenesis of Huntington's disease. Trends Genet. 20 (3), 146-154.
- Li, S.H., Hosseini, S.H., Gutekunst, C.A., Hersch, S.M., Ferrante, R.J., Li, X.J., 1998. A human HAP1 homologue. Cloning, expression, and interaction with huntingtin. J Biol Chem. 273 (30), 19220-19227.
- Li, S.H., Yu, Z.X., Li, C.L., Nguyen, H.P., Zhou, Y.X., Deng, C., Li, X.J., 2003b. Lack of huntingtinassociated protein-1 causes neuronal death resembling hypothalamic degeneration in Huntington's disease. J Neurosci. 23 (17), 6956-6964.
- Li, X.J., Li, S.H., 2005. HAP1 and intracellular trafficking. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 26 (1), 1-3.
- Li, X.J., Sharp, A.H., Li, S.H., Dawson, T.M., Snyder, S.H., Ross, C.A., 1996. Huntingtin-associated protein (HAP1): discrete neuronal localizations in the brain resemble those of neuronal nitric oxide synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 93 (10), 4839-4844.
- Li, X.J., Li, S.H., Sharp, A.H., Nucifora, F.C., Jr., Schilling, G., Lanahan, A., Worley, P., Snyder, S.H., Ross, C.A., 1995. A huntingtin-associated protein enriched in brain with implications for pathology. Nature. 378 (6555), 398-402.
- Liao, M., Shen, J., Zhang, Y., Li, S.H., Li, X.J., Li, H., 2005. Immunohistochemical localization of huntingtin-associated protein 1 in endocrine system of the rat. J Histochem Cytochem. 53 (12), 1517-1524.
- Lievens, J.C., Woodman, B., Mahal, A., Spasic-Boscovic, O., Samuel, D., Kerkerian-Le Goff, L., Bates, G.P., 2001. Impaired glutamate uptake in the R6 Huntington's disease transgenic mice. Neurobiol Dis. 8 (5), 807-821.
- Lin, M.T., Beal, M.F., 2006. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases. Nature. 443 (7113), 787-795.
- Lodi, R., Schapira, A.H., Manners, D., Styles, P., Wood, N.W., Taylor, D.J., Warner, T.T., 2000. Abnormal in vivo skeletal muscle energy metabolism in Huntington's disease and dentatorubropallidoluysian atrophy. Ann Neurol. 48 (1), 72-76.
- Luesse, H.G., Schiefer, J., Spruenken, A., Puls, C., Block, F., Kosinski, C.M., 2001. Evaluation of R6/2 HD transgenic mice for therapeutic studies in Huntington's disease: behavioral testing and impact of diabetes mellitus. Behav Brain Res. 126 (1-2), 185-195.
- Lumsden, A.L., Henshall, T.L., Dayan, S., Lardelli, M.T., Richards, R.I., 2007. Huntingtin-deficient zebrafish exhibit defects in iron utilization and development. Hum Mol Genet. 16 (16), 1905-1920.
- Lunkes, A., Lindenberg, K.S., Ben-Haiem, L., Weber, C., Devys, D., Landwehrmeyer, G.B., Mandel, J.L., Trottier, Y., 2002. Proteases acting on mutant huntingtin generate cleaved products that differentially build up cytoplasmic and nuclear inclusions. Mol Cell. 10 (2), 259-269.
- Luthi-Carter, R., Hanson, S.A., Strand, A.D., Bergstrom, D.A., Chun, W., Peters, N.L., Woods, A.M., Chan, E.Y., Kooperberg, C., Krainc, D., Young, A.B., Tapscott, S.J., Olson, J.M., 2002. Dysregulation of gene expression in the R6/2 model of polyglutamine disease: parallel changes in muscle and brain. Hum Mol Genet. 11 (17), 1911-1926.
- Luthi-Carter, R., Strand, A., Peters, N.L., Solano, S.M., Hollingsworth, Z.R., Menon, A.S., Frey, A.S., Spektor, B.S., Penney, E.B., Schilling, G., Ross, C.A., Borchelt, D.R., Tapscott, S.J., Young, A.B., Cha, J.H., Olson, J.M., 2000. Decreased expression of striatal signaling genes in a mouse model of Huntington's disease. Hum Mol Genet. 9 (9), 1259-1271.
- Macdonald, V., Halliday, G.M., Trent, R.J., McCusker, E.A., 1997. Significant loss of pyramidal neurons in the angular gyrus of patients with Huntington's disease. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 23 (6), 492-495.

- Maglione, V., Cannella, M., Gradini, R., Cislaghi, G., Squitieri, F., 2006. Huntingtin fragmentation and increased caspase 3, 8 and 9 activities in lymphoblasts with heterozygous and homozygous Huntington's disease mutation. Mech Ageing Dev. 127 (2), 213-216.
- Mangiarini, L., Sathasivam, K., Seller, M., Cozens, B., Harper, A., Hetherington, C., Lawton, M., Trottier, Y., Lehrach, H., Davies, S.W., Bates, G.P., 1996. Exon 1 of the HD gene with an expanded CAG repeat is sufficient to cause a progressive neurological phenotype in transgenic mice. Cell. 87 (3), 493-506.
- Marcora, E., Gowan, K., Lee, J.E., 2003. Stimulation of NeuroD activity by huntingtin and huntingtinassociated proteins HAP1 and MLK2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100 (16), 9578-9583.
- Markianos, M., Panas, M., Kalfakis, N., Vassilopoulos, D., 2005. Plasma testosterone in male patients with Huntington's disease: Relations to severity of illness and dementia. Ann Neurol. 57 (4), 520-525.
- Marsh, J.L., Pallos, J., Thompson, L.M., 2003. Fly models of Huntington's disease. Hum Mol Genet. 12 Spec No 2 R187-193.
- Mastromauro, C.A., Meissen, G.J., Cupples, L.A., Kiely, D.K., Berkman, B., Myers, R.H., 1989. Estimation of fertility and fitness in Huntington disease in New England. Am J Med Genet. 33 (2), 248-254.
- Mattiasson, G., Shamloo, M., Gido, G., Mathi, K., Tomasevic, G., Yi, S., Warden, C.H., Castilho, R.F., Melcher, T., Gonzalez-Zulueta, M., Nikolich, K., Wieloch, T., 2003. Uncoupling protein-2 prevents neuronal death and diminishes brain dysfunction after stroke and brain trauma. Nat Med. 9 (8), 1062-1068.
- McGeer, E.G., McGeer, P.L., 1976. Duplication of biochemical changes of Huntington's chorea by intrastriatal injections of glutamic and kainic acids. Nature. 263 (5577), 517-519.
- McNeil, S.M., Novelletto, A., Srinidhi, J., Barnes, G., Kornbluth, I., Altherr, M.R., Wasmuth, J.J., Gusella, J.F., MacDonald, M.E., Myers, R.H., 1997. Reduced penetrance of the Huntington's disease mutation. Hum Mol Genet. 6 (5), 775-779.
- Meade, C.A., Deng, Y.P., Fusco, F.R., Del Mar, N., Hersch, S., Goldowitz, D., Reiner, A., 2002. Cellular localization and development of neuronal intranuclear inclusions in striatal and cortical neurons in R6/2 transgenic mice. J Comp Neurol. 449 (3), 241-269.
- Menalled, L.B., Chesselet, M.F., 2002. Mouse models of Huntington's disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 23 (1), 32-39.
- Metzler, M., Helgason, C.D., Dragatsis, I., Zhang, T., Gan, L., Pineault, N., Zeitlin, S.O., Humphries, R.K., Hayden, M.R., 2000. Huntingtin is required for normal hematopoiesis. Hum Mol Genet. 9 (3), 387-394.
- Mihm, M.J., Amann, D.M., Schanbacher, B.L., Altschuld, R.A., Bauer, J.A., Hoyt, K.R., 2007. Cardiac dysfunction in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 25 (2), 297-308.
- Milakovic, T., Johnson, G.V., 2005. Mitochondrial respiration and ATP production are significantly impaired in striatal cells expressing mutant huntingtin. J Biol Chem. 280 (35), 30773-30782.
- Mochel, F., Charles, P., Seguin, F., Barritault, J., Coussieu, C., Perin, L., Le Bouc, Y., Gervais, C., Carcelain, G., Vassault, A., Feingold, J., Rabier, D., Durr, A., 2007. Early energy deficit in Huntington disease: identification of a plasma biomarker traceable during disease progression. PLoS ONE. 2 (7), e647.
- Morales, L.M., Estevez, J., Suarez, H., Villalobos, R., Chacin de Bonilla, L., Bonilla, E., 1989. Nutritional evaluation of Huntington disease patients. Am J Clin Nutr. 50 (1), 145-150.
- Mormone, E., Matarrese, P., Tinari, A., Cannella, M., Maglione, V., Farrace, M.G., Piacentini, M., Frati, L., Malorni, W., Squitieri, F., 2006. Genotype-dependent priming to self- and xeno-cannibalism in heterozygous and homozygous lymphoblasts from patients with Huntington's disease. J Neuro-chem. 98 (4), 1090-1099.
- Morton, A.J., Faull, R.L., Edwardson, J.M., 2001. Abnormalities in the synaptic vesicle fusion machinery in Huntington's disease. Brain Res Bull. 56 (2), 111-117.

- Morton, A.J., Lagan, M.A., Skepper, J.N., Dunnett, S.B., 2000. Progressive formation of inclusions in the striatum and hippocampus of mice transgenic for the human Huntington's disease mutation. J Neurocytol. 29 (9), 679-702.
- Morton, A.J., Wood, N.I., Hastings, M.H., Hurelbrink, C., Barker, R.A., Maywood, E.S., 2005. Disintegration of the sleep-wake cycle and circadian timing in Huntington's disease. J Neurosci. 25 (1), 157-163.
- Myers, R.H., 2004. Huntington's disease genetics. NeuroRx. 1 (2), 255-262.
- Myers, R.H., Sax, D.S., Koroshetz, W.J., Mastromauro, C., Cupples, L.A., Kiely, D.K., Pettengill, F.K., Bird, E.D., 1991. Factors associated with slow progression in Huntington's disease. Arch Neurol. 48 (8), 800-804.
- Nagakura, Y., Naitoh, Y., Kamato, T., Yamano, M., Miyata, K., 1996. Compounds possessing 5-HT3 receptor antagonistic activity inhibit intestinal propulsion in mice. Eur J Pharmacol. 311 (1), 67-72.
- Nance, M.A., Sanders, G., 1996. Characteristics of individuals with Huntington disease in long-term care. Mov Disord. 11 (5), 542-548.
- Nance, M.A., Myers, R.H., 2001. Juvenile onset Huntington's disease--clinical and research perspectives. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev. 7 (3), 153-157.
- Nasir, J., Floresco, S.B., O'Kusky, J.R., Diewert, V.M., Richman, J.M., Zeisler, J., Borowski, A., Marth, J.D., Phillips, A.G., Hayden, M.R., 1995. Targeted disruption of the Huntington's disease gene results in embryonic lethality and behavioral and morphological changes in heterozygotes. Cell. 81 (5), 811-823.
- Norman, T.R., Chiu, E., French, M.A., 1987. Platelet monoamine oxidase activity in patients with Huntington's disease. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 14 (6), 547-550.
- Otti, D.V., Hödl, A.K., Bonelli, C.M., Strele, A., Obermeyer-Pietsch, B., Kapfhammer, H.P., Bonelli, R.M., 2007. Osteoporosis in Huntington's disease. ABSTRACT, Proceedings of the 2nd International Congress of Biological Psychiatry, Santiago, Chile.
- Palfi, S., Jarraya, B., 2008. Huntington's disease: genetics lends a hand. Nature. 453 (7197), 863-864.
- Pallier, P.N., Maywood, E.S., Zheng, Z., Chesham, J.E., Inyushkin, A.N., Dyball, R., Hastings, M.H., Morton, A.J., 2007. Pharmacological imposition of sleep slows cognitive decline and reverses dysregulation of circadian gene expression in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. J Neurosci. 27 (29), 7869-7878.
- Panov, A.V., Gutekunst, C.A., Leavitt, B.R., Hayden, M.R., Burke, J.R., Strittmatter, W.J., Greenamyre, J.T., 2002. Early mitochondrial calcium defects in Huntington's disease are a direct effect of polyglutamines. Nat Neurosci. 5 (8), 731-736.
- Papalexi, E., Persson, A., Bjorkqvist, M., Petersen, A., Woodman, B., Bates, G.P., Sundler, F., Mulder, H., Brundin, P., Popovic, N., 2005. Reduction of GnRH and infertility in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease. Eur J Neurosci. 22 (6), 1541-1546.
- Parent, A., Hazrati, L.N., 1995a. Functional anatomy of the basal ganglia. I. The cortico-basal gangliathalamo-cortical loop. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 20 (1), 91-127.
- Parent, A., Hazrati, L.N., 1995b. Functional anatomy of the basal ganglia. II. The place of subthalamic nucleus and external pallidum in basal ganglia circuitry. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 20 (1), 128-154.
- Parker, W.D., Jr., Boyson, S.J., Luder, A.S., Parks, J.K., 1990. Evidence for a defect in NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I) in Huntington's disease. Neurology. 40 (8), 1231-1234.
- Passani, M.B., Bacciottini, L., Mannaioni, P.F., Blandina, P., 2000. Central histaminergic system and cognition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 24 (1), 107-113.
- Pattison, J.S., Robbins, J., 2008. Protein misfolding and cardiac disease: establishing cause and effect. Autophagy. 4 (6), 821-823.
- Pattison, J.S., Sanbe, A., Maloyan, A., Osinska, H., Klevitsky, R., Robbins, J., 2008. Cardiomyocyte expression of a polyglutamine preamyloid oligomer causes heart failure. Circulation. 117 (21), 2743-2751.

- Paulsen, J.S., Magnotta, V.A., Mikos, A.E., Paulson, H.L., Penziner, E., Andreasen, N.C., Nopoulos, P.C., 2006. Brain structure in preclinical Huntington's disease. Biol Psychiatry. 59 (1), 57-63.
- Penney, J.B., Jr., Vonsattel, J.P., MacDonald, M.E., Gusella, J.F., Myers, R.H., 1997. CAG repeat number governs the development rate of pathology in Huntington's disease. Ann Neurol. 41 (5), 689-692.
- Petersen, A., Bjorkqvist, M., 2006. Hypothalamic-endocrine aspects in Huntington's disease. Eur J Neurosci. 24 (4), 961-967.
- Petersen, A., Gil, J., Maat-Schieman, M.L., Bjorkqvist, M., Tanila, H., Araujo, I.M., Smith, R., Popovic, N., Wierup, N., Norlen, P., Li, J.Y., Roos, R.A., Sundler, F., Mulder, H., Brundin, P., 2005. Orexin loss in Huntington's disease. Hum Mol Genet. 14 (1), 39-47.
- Petit, D., Gagnon, J.F., Fantini, M.L., Ferini-Strambi, L., Montplaisir, J., 2004. Sleep and quantitative EEG in neurodegenerative disorders. J Psychosom Res. 56 (5), 487-496.
- Petrasch-Parwez, E., Habbes, H.W., Weickert, S., Lobbecke-Schumacher, M., Striedinger, K., Wieczorek, S., Dermietzel, R., Epplen, J.T., 2004. Fine-structural analysis and connexin expression in the retina of a transgenic model of Huntington's disease. J Comp Neurol. 479 (2), 181-197.
- Podolsky, S., Leopold, N.A., 1977. Abnormal glucose tolerance and arginine tolerance tests in Huntington's disease. Gerontology. 23 (1), 55-63.
- Podolsky, S., Leopold, N.A., Sax, D.S., 1972. Increased frequency of diabetes mellitus in patients with Huntington's chorea. Lancet. 1 (7765), 1356-1358.
- Popovic, V., Svetel, M., Djurovic, M., Petrovic, S., Doknic, M., Pekic, S., Miljic, D., Milic, N., Glodic, J., Dieguez, C., Casanueva, F.F., Kostic, V., 2004. Circulating and cerebrospinal fluid ghrelin and leptin: potential role in altered body weight in Huntington's disease. Eur J Endocrinol. 151 (4), 451-455.
- Pratley, R.E., Salbe, A.D., Ravussin, E., Caviness, J.N., 2000. Higher sedentary energy expenditure in patients with Huntington's disease. Ann Neurol. 47 (1), 64-70.
- Pridmore, S.A., Adams, G.C., 1991. The fertility of HD-affected individuals in Tasmania. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 25 (2), 262-264.
- Ravina, B., Romer, M., Constantinescu, R., Biglan, K., Brocht, A., Kieburtz, K., Shoulson, I., McDermott, M.P., 2008. The relationship between CAG repeat length and clinical progression in Huntington's disease. Mov Disord. 23 (9), 1223-1227.
- Reiner, A., Dragatsis, I., Zeitlin, S., Goldowitz, D., 2003. Wild-type huntingtin plays a role in brain development and neuronal survival. Mol Neurobiol. 28 (3), 259-276.
- Reynolds, G.P., Pearson, S.J., Halket, J., Sandler, M., 1988. Brain quinolinic acid in Huntington's disease. J Neurochem. 50 (6), 1959-1960.
- Ribchester, R.R., Thomson, D., Wood, N.I., Hinks, T., Gillingwater, T.H., Wishart, T.M., Court, F.A., Morton, A.J., 2004. Progressive abnormalities in skeletal muscle and neuromuscular junctions of transgenic mice expressing the Huntington's disease mutation. Eur J Neurosci. 20 (11), 3092-3114.
- Robbins, A.O., Ho, A.K., Barker, R.A., 2006. Weight changes in Huntington's disease. Eur J Neurol. 13 (8), e7.
- Roos, R.A., Bots, G.T., Hermans, J., 1986. Quantitative analysis of morphological features in Huntington's disease. Acta Neurol Scand. 73 (2), 131-135.
- Roos, R.A.C., 1986. In Handbook of clinical neurology. Amsterdam Elsevier. Vol. 49 (ed. P. Vinken, G. Bruyn, and H. Klawan) 315-322.
- Rosas, H.D., Salat, D.H., Lee, S.Y., Zaleta, A.K., Pappu, V., Fischl, B., Greve, D., Hevelone, N., Hersch, S.M., 2008. Cerebral cortex and the clinical expression of Huntington's disease: complexity and heterogeneity. Brain. 131 (Pt 4), 1057-1068.
- Rosas, H.D., Goodman, J., Chen, Y.I., Jenkins, B.G., Kennedy, D.N., Makris, N., Patti, M., Seidman, L.J., Beal, M.F., Koroshetz, W.J., 2001. Striatal volume loss in HD as measured by MRI and the influence of CAG repeat. Neurology. 57 (6), 1025-1028.

- Rosas, H.D., Koroshetz, W.J., Chen, Y.I., Skeuse, C., Vangel, M., Cudkowicz, M.E., Caplan, K., Marek, K., Seidman, L.J., Makris, N., Jenkins, B.G., Goldstein, J.M., 2003. Evidence for more widespread cerebral pathology in early HD: an MRI-based morphometric analysis. Neurology. 60 (10), 1615-1620.
- Rosenblatt, A., Abbott, M.H., Gourley, L.M., Troncoso, J.C., Margolis, R.L., Brandt, J., Ross, C.A., 2003. Predictors of neuropathological severity in 100 patients with Huntington's disease. Ann Neurol. 54 (4), 488-493.
- Rosenblatt, A., Liang, K.Y., Zhou, H., Abbott, M.H., Gourley, L.M., Margolis, R.L., Brandt, J., Ross, C.A., 2006. The association of CAG repeat length with clinical progression in Huntington disease. Neurology. 66 (7), 1016-1020.
- Ruocco, H.H., Lopes-Cendes, I., Li, L.M., Santos-Silva, M., Cendes, F., 2006. Striatal and extrastriatal atrophy in Huntington's disease and its relationship with length of the CAG repeat. Braz J Med Biol Res. 39 (8), 1129-1136.
- Ruocco, H.H., Bonilha, L., Li, L.M., Lopes-Cendes, I., Cendes, F., 2008. Longitudinal analysis of regional grey matter loss in Huntington disease: effects of the length of the expanded CAG repeat. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 79 (2), 130-135.
- Saft, C., Zange, J., Andrich, J., Muller, K., Lindenberg, K., Landwehrmeyer, B., Vorgerd, M., Kraus, P.H., Przuntek, H., Schols, L., 2005. Mitochondrial impairment in patients and asymptomatic mutation carriers of Huntington's disease. Mov Disord. 20 (6), 674-679.
- Sanberg, P.R., Fibiger, H.C., Mark, R.F., 1981. Body weight and dietary factors in Huntington's disease patients compared with matched controls. Med J Aust. 1 (8), 407-409.
- Sapp, E., Ge, P., Aizawa, H., Bird, E., Penney, J., Young, A.B., Vonsattel, J.P., DiFiglia, M., 1995. Evidence for a preferential loss of enkephalin immunoreactivity in the external globus pallidus in low grade Huntington's disease using high resolution image analysis. Neuroscience. 64 (2), 397-404.
- Sathasivam, K., Woodman, B., Mahal, A., Bertaux, F., Wanker, E.E., Shima, D.T., Bates, G.P., 2001. Centrosome disorganization in fibroblast cultures derived from R6/2 Huntington's disease (HD) transgenic mice and HD patients. Hum Mol Genet. 10 (21), 2425-2435.
- Sathasivam, K., Hobbs, C., Turmaine, M., Mangiarini, L., Mahal, A., Bertaux, F., Wanker, E.E., Doherty, P., Davies, S.W., Bates, G.P., 1999. Formation of polyglutamine inclusions in non-CNS tissue. Hum Mol Genet. 8 (5), 813-822.
- Sawa, A., Wiegand, G.W., Cooper, J., Margolis, R.L., Sharp, A.H., Lawler, J.F., Jr., Greenamyre, J.T., Snyder, S.H., Ross, C.A., 1999. Increased apoptosis of Huntington disease lymphoblasts associated with repeat length-dependent mitochondrial depolarization. Nat Med. 5 (10), 1194-1198.
- Schöpe, M., 1940. Über Veränderungen im pyramidal-motorischen system bei einer Chorea Huntington. . Zfd ges Neurologie u Psychiatrie. 168 679-684.
- Schwarcz, R., Tamminga, C.A., Kurlan, R., Shoulson, I., 1988a. Cerebrospinal fluid levels of quinolinic acid in Huntington's disease and schizophrenia. Ann Neurol. 24 (4), 580-582.
- Schwarcz, R., Okuno, E., White, R.J., Bird, E.D., Whetsell, W.O., Jr., 1988b. 3-Hydroxyanthranilate oxygenase activity is increased in the brains of Huntington disease victims. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 85 (11), 4079-4081.
- Selemon, L.D., Rajkowska, G., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 2004. Evidence for progression in frontal cortical pathology in late-stage Huntington's disease. J Comp Neurol. 468 (2), 190-204.
- Sharma, K.R., Romano, J.G., Ayyar, D.R., Rotta, F.T., Facca, A., Sanchez-Ramos, J., 1999. Sympathetic skin response and heart rate variability in patients with Huntington disease. Arch Neurol. 56 (10), 1248-1252.
- Sheng, G., Xu, X., Lin, Y.F., Wang, C.E., Rong, J., Cheng, D., Peng, J., Jiang, X., Li, S.H., Li, X.J., 2008. Huntingtin-associated protein 1 interacts with Ahi1 to regulate cerebellar and brainstem development in mice. J Clin Invest. 118 (8), 2785-2795.

- Sheng, G., Chang, G.Q., Lin, J.Y., Yu, Z.X., Fang, Z.H., Rong, J., Lipton, S.A., Li, S.H., Tong, G., Leibowitz, S.F., Li, X.J., 2006. Hypothalamic huntingtin-associated protein 1 as a mediator of feeding behavior. Nat Med.
- Shimada, M., Tritos, N.A., Lowell, B.B., Flier, J.S., Maratos-Flier, E., 1998. Mice lacking melanin-concentrating hormone are hypophagic and lean. Nature. 396 (6712), 670-674.
- Shokeir, M.H., 1975. Investigation on Huntington's disease in the Canadian Prairies. II. Fecundity and fitness. Clin Genet. 7 (4), 349-353.
- Shoulson, I., Fahn, S., 1979. Huntington disease: clinical care and evaluation. Neurology. 29 (1), 1-3.
- Siesling, S., van Vugt, J.P., Zwinderman, K.A., Kieburtz, K., Roos, R.A., 1998. Unified Huntington's disease rating scale: a follow up. Mov Disord. 13 (6), 915-919.
- Silvestri, R., Raffaele, M., De Domenico, P., Tisano, A., Mento, G., Casella, C., Tripoli, M.C., Serra, S., Di Perri, R., 1995. Sleep features in Tourette's syndrome, neuroacanthocytosis and Huntington's chorea. Neurophysiol Clin. 25 (2), 66-77.
- Slow, E.J., Graham, R.K., Osmand, A.P., Devon, R.S., Lu, G., Deng, Y., Pearson, J., Vaid, K., Bissada, N., Wetzel, R., Leavitt, B.R., Hayden, M.R., 2005. Absence of behavioral abnormalities and neurodegeneration in vivo despite widespread neuronal huntingtin inclusions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 102 (32), 11402-11407.
- Smith, R., Chung, H., Rundquist, S., Maat-Schieman, M.L., Colgan, L., Englund, E., Liu, Y.J., Roos, R.A., Faull, R.L., Brundin, P., Li, J.Y., 2006. Cholinergic neuronal defect without cell loss in Huntington's disease. Hum Mol Genet. 15 (21), 3119-3131.
- Sorensen, S.A., Fenger, K., 1992. Causes of death in patients with Huntington's disease and in unaffected first degree relatives. J Med Genet. 29 (12), 911-914.
- Sotrel, A., Paskevich, P.A., Kiely, D.K., Bird, E.D., Williams, R.S., Myers, R.H., 1991. Morphometric analysis of the prefrontal cortex in Huntington's disease. Neurology. 41 (7), 1117-1123.
- Spargo, E., Everall, I.P., Lantos, P.L., 1993. Neuronal loss in the hippocampus in Huntington's disease: a comparison with HIV infection. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 56 (5), 487-491.
- Squitieri, F., Frati, L., Ciarmiello, A., Lastoria, S., Quarrell, O., 2006. Juvenile Huntington's disease: does a dosage-effect pathogenic mechanism differ from the classical adult disease? Mech Ageing Dev. 127 (2), 208-212.
- Stack, E.C., Kubilus, J.K., Smith, K., Cormier, K., Del Signore, S.J., Guelin, E., Ryu, H., Hersch, S.M., Ferrante, R.J., 2005. Chronology of behavioral symptoms and neuropathological sequela in R6/2 Huntington's disease transgenic mice. J Comp Neurol. 490 (4), 354-370.
- Stober, T., Sen, S., Burger, L., 1983. Bradycardia and second-degree AV block: an expression of the dominance of cholinergic activity in the rigid form of Huntington's disease. J Neurol. 229 (2), 129-132.
- Stoy, N., McKay, E., 2000. Weight loss in Huntington's disease. Ann Neurol. 48 (1), 130-131.
- Strand, A.D., Aragaki, A.K., Shaw, D., Bird, T., Holton, J., Turner, C., Tapscott, S.J., Tabrizi, S.J., Schapira, A.H., Kooperberg, C., Olson, J.M., 2005. Gene expression in Huntington's disease skeletal muscle: a potential biomarker. Hum Mol Genet. 14 (13), 1863-1876.
- Swaab, D.F., 2003. In: The human hypothalamus: basic and clincal aspects; Part I: nuclei of the human hypothalamus. Handbook of clinical neurology, MJ Aminoff, F Boller and DF Swaab; Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- Tabrizi, S.J., Workman, J., Hart, P.E., Mangiarini, L., Mahal, A., Bates, G., Cooper, J.M., Schapira, A.H., 2000. Mitochondrial dysfunction and free radical damage in the Huntington R6/2 transgenic mouse. Ann Neurol. 47 (1), 80-86.
- Taylor, N., Bramble, D., 1997. Sleep disturbance and Huntingdon's disease. Br J Psychiatry. 171 393.
- Trejo, A., Boll, M.C., Alonso, M.E., Ochoa, A., Velasquez, L., 2005. Use of oral nutritional supplements in patients with Huntington's disease. Nutrition. 21 (9), 889-894.
- Trejo, A., Tarrats, R.M., Alonso, M.E., Boll, M.C., Ochoa, A., Velasquez, L., 2004. Assessment of the nutrition status of patients with Huntington's disease. Nutrition. 20 (2), 192-196.

- Trottier, Y., Biancalana, V., Mandel, J.L., 1994. Instability of CAG repeats in Huntington's disease: relation to parental transmission and age of onset. J Med Genet. 31 (5), 377-382.
- Trottier, Y., Devys, D., Imbert, G., Saudou, F., An, I., Lutz, Y., Weber, C., Agid, Y., Hirsch, E.C., Mandel, J.L., 1995. Cellular localization of the Huntington's disease protein and discrimination of the normal and mutated form. Nat Genet. 10 (1), 104-110.
- Turner, C., Cooper, J.M., Schapira, A.H., 2007. Clinical correlates of mitochondrial function in Huntington's disease muscle. Mov Disord. 22 (12), 1715-1721.
- Underwood, B.R., Broadhurst, D., Dunn, W.B., Ellis, D.I., Michell, A.W., Vacher, C., Mosedale, D.E., Kell, D.B., Barker, R.A., Grainger, D.J., Rubinsztein, D.C., 2006. Huntington disease patients and transgenic mice have similar pro-catabolic serum metabolite profiles. Brain. 129 (Pt 4), 877-886.
- van Duijn, E., Kingma, E.M., van der Mast, R.C., 2007. Psychopathology in verified Huntington's disease gene carriers. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 19 (4), 441-448.
- Van Raamsdonk, J.M., Murphy, Z., Slow, E.J., Leavitt, B.R., Hayden, M.R., 2005. Selective degeneration and nuclear localization of mutant huntingtin in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease. Hum Mol Genet. 14 (24), 3823-3835.
- Van Raamsdonk, J.M., Murphy, Z., Selva, D.M., Hamidizadeh, R., Pearson, J., Petersen, A., Bjorkqvist, M., Muir, C., Mackenzie, I.R., Hammond, G.L., Vogl, A.W., Hayden, M.R., Leavitt, B.R., 2007. Testicular degeneration in Huntington disease. Neurobiol Dis. 26 (3), 512-520.
- Vann, S.D., Aggleton, J.P., 2004. The mammillary bodies: two memory systems in one? Nat Rev Neurosci. 5 (1), 35-44.
- Varani, K., Abbracchio, M.P., Cannella, M., Cislaghi, G., Giallonardo, P., Mariotti, C., Cattabriga, E., Cattabeni, F., Borea, P.A., Squitieri, F., Cattaneo, E., 2003. Aberrant A2A receptor function in peripheral blood cells in Huntington's disease. Faseb J. 17 (14), 2148-2150.
- Varani, K., Bachoud-Levi, A.C., Mariotti, C., Tarditi, A., Abbracchio, M.P., Gasperi, V., Borea, P.A., Dolbeau, G., Gellera, C., Solari, A., Rosser, A., Naji, J., Handley, O., Maccarrone, M., Peschanski, M., DiDonato, S., Cattaneo, E., 2007. Biological abnormalities of peripheral A(2A) receptors in a large representation of polyglutamine disorders and Huntington's disease stages. Neurobiol Dis. 27 (1), 36-43.
- Vassos, E., Panas, M., Kladi, A., Vassilopoulos, D., 2008. Effect of CAG repeat length on psychiatric disorders in Huntington's disease. J Psychiatr Res. 42 (7), 544-549.
- Veiga, S., Melcangi, R.C., Doncarlos, L.L., Garcia-Segura, L.M., Azcoitia, I., 2004. Sex hormones and brain aging. Exp Gerontol. 39 (11-12), 1623-1631.
- Vogt, C., Vogt, O., 1952. Precipitating and modifying agents in chorea. J Nerv Ment Dis. 116 (6), 601-607.
- Vonsattel, J.P., DiFiglia, M., 1998. Huntington disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 57 (5), 369-384.
- Vonsattel, J.P., Myers, R.H., Stevens, T.J., Ferrante, R.J., Bird, E.D., Richardson, E.P., Jr., 1985. Neuropathological classification of Huntington's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 44 (6), 559-577.
- Wade, A., Jacobs, P., Morton, A.J., 2008. Atrophy and degeneration in sciatic nerve of presymptomatic mice carrying the Huntington's disease mutation. Brain Res. 1188 61-68.
- Wagster, M.V., Hedreen, J.C., Peyser, C.E., Folstein, S.E., Ross, C.A., 1994. Selective loss of [3H]kainic acid and [3H]AMPA binding in layer VI of frontal cortex in Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol. 127 (1), 70-75.
- Wahren, W., 1959. Anatomy of the hypothalamus. In: Introduction of stereotaxis with an atlas of the human brain. Thieme, Stuttgart; Ed G Schaltenbrand and PBailey. 119-151.
- Wahren, W., 1964. Zur Pathoklise des Nucleus Tuberis lateralis. Prog Brain Res. 5 161-170.
- Walker, F.O., 2007. Huntington's disease. Lancet. 369 (9557), 218-228.
- Wanker, E.E., Rovira, C., Scherzinger, E., Hasenbank, R., Walter, S., Tait, D., Colicelli, J., Lehrach, H., 1997. HIP-I: a huntingtin interacting protein isolated by the yeast two-hybrid system. Hum Mol Genet. 6 (3), 487-495.

- Weydt, P., Pineda, V.V., Torrence, A.E., Libby, R.T., Satterfield, T.F., Lazarowski, E.R., Gilbert, M.L., Morton, G.J., Bammler, T.K., Strand, A.D., Cui, L., Beyer, R.P., Easley, C.N., Smith, A.C., Krainc, D., Luquet, S., Sweet, I.R., Schwartz, M.W., La Spada, A.R., 2006. Thermoregulatory and metabolic defects in Huntington's disease transgenic mice implicate PGC-1alpha in Huntington's disease neurodegeneration. Cell Metab. 4 (5), 349-362.
- Wiegand, M., Moller, A.A., Lauer, C.J., Stolz, S., Schreiber, W., Dose, M., Krieg, J.C., 1991. Nocturnal sleep in Huntington's disease. J Neurol. 238 (4), 203-208.
- Wolf, R.C., Vasic, N., Schonfeldt-Lecuona, C., Landwehrmeyer, G.B., Ecker, D., 2007. Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex dysfunction in presymptomatic Huntington's disease: evidence from event-related fMRI. Brain. 130 (Pt 11), 2845-2857.
- Wolf, R.C., Vasic, N., Schonfeldt-Lecuona, C., Ecker, D., Landwehrmeyer, G.B., 2008a. Cortical dysfunction in patients with Huntington's disease during working memory performance. Hum Brain Mapp.
- Wolf, R.C., Sambataro, F., Vasic, N., Schonfeldt-Lecuona, C., Ecker, D., Landwehrmeyer, B., 2008b. Aberrant connectivity of lateral prefrontal networks in presymptomatic Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol.
- Yang, S.H., Cheng, P.H., Banta, H., Piotrowska-Nitsche, K., Yang, J.J., Cheng, E.C., Snyder, B., Larkin, K., Liu, J., Orkin, J., Fang, Z.H., Smith, Y., Bachevalier, J., Zola, S.M., Li, S.H., Li, X.J., Chan, A.W., 2008. Towards a transgenic model of Huntington's disease in a non-human primate. Nature. 453 (7197), 921-924.
- Zakzanis, K.K., 1998. The subcortical dementia of Huntington's disease. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 20 (4), 565-578.
- Zeitlin, S., Liu, J.P., Chapman, D.L., Papaioannou, V.E., Efstratiadis, A., 1995. Increased apoptosis and early embryonic lethality in mice nullizygous for the Huntington's disease gene homologue. Nat Genet. 11 (2), 155-163.
- Zuccato, C., Liber, D., Ramos, C., Tarditi, A., Rigamonti, D., Tartari, M., Valenza, M., Cattaneo, E., 2005. Progressive loss of BDNF in a mouse model of Huntington's disease and rescue by BDNF delivery. Pharmacol Res. 52 (2), 133-139.
- Zuccato, C., Tartari, M., Crotti, A., Goffredo, D., Valenza, M., Conti, L., Cataudella, T., Leavitt, B.R., Hayden, M.R., Timmusk, T., Rigamonti, D., Cattaneo, E., 2003. Huntingtin interacts with REST/ NRSF to modulate the transcription of NRSE-controlled neuronal genes. Nat Genet. 35 (1), 76-83.
- Zuccato, C., Ciammola, A., Rigamonti, D., Leavitt, B.R., Goffredo, D., Conti, L., MacDonald, M.E., Friedlander, R.M., Silani, V., Hayden, M.R., Timmusk, T., Sipione, S., Cattaneo, E., 2001. Loss of huntingtin-mediated BDNF gene transcription in Huntington's disease. Science. 293 (5529), 493-498.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who has assisted me during the past four years. In particular, I wish to convey my gratitude to the following people:

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor, Prof. Patrik Brundin. You gave me the opportunity to undertake this journey and you were always there to support me. Even on paternity leave or on holidays, you were a constant help with the preparations for my half time defense and my thesis. Your radiating enthusiasm and passion for science have been a great inspiration and I deeply admire your great knowledge of neuroscience. I cannot express too strongly how grateful I am for everything you have done for me during the past four years. I could not have had a better supervisor!

Secondly, I would like to thank my co-supervisor, Dr. Jia-Yi Li, who has been abundantly helpful, and who assisted me in numerous ways. I always enjoyed discussing science with you. I am grateful to Dr. Brigitte Pettmann, my other co-supervisor, for being, although far away, very supportive for my thesis work. It was always a great pleasure to work with you and I would like to thank you and Regine for all you have done for the NSR network!

The endless support and enthusiasm of Dr. Maria Björkqvist has been indispensable! Thank you for all your help with different projects and with this thesis, and for teaching me more about endocrinology. You were an inspiring mentor and I always enjoyed working with you! I will miss you a lot after leaving Lund!

I am also very grateful to Dr. Åsa Petersén. Thank you for the interesting discussions we had about HD, for introducing me to many HD researchers, for all your help with writing 'paper I', the discussion clubs you organize, and for many other things. It was a great pleasure to work with you!

I would like to thank Dr. Hindrik Mulder. You were always willing to help and discuss the weight loss project, although you were extremely busy. It was also fun to talk (a few) Dutch words with you every now and then!

A big 'thank you' to Britt Lindberg and Birgit Haraldsson for their very skilled technical assistance and many other things. Det var ni som lärde mig svenska och därför vill jag gärna tacka er på svenska. Ni har båda varit som en andra mor för mig, som en familj. Det är inte alltid så lätt att vara i ett annat land, långt borta från sina föräldrar och vänner. Ni har alltid varit där för mig: tack så jätte, jättemycket!

I also would like to thank Elsy Ling and Doris Persson. Your technical assistance was invaluable and it has always been a great pleasure to work with you!

I am very grateful to Bengt Mattsson for his help with the lay-out of this thesis.

Many thanks to our administrators and grant managers: Birgitta Larsson, Emma Idman, Dr. Martha Escobar and Dr. Jens Forsberg for all the paperwork you have been helping me with during the past years. Many thanks also to Dr. Emma Lane, Dr. Vanessa Hall, Dr. Phil Gaughwin, and Lt. Dave Marsh for helping me with various 'grammar issues', including those regarding my thesis.

Due to a viral outbreak in our animal house and failed breeding I was unable to perform experiments in R6/2 mice for more than one and a half years. This has been a major burden for my
thesis work. Thanks to Prof. Gillian Bates and Dr. Ben Woodman in London, I still managed to get the tissues necessary for completion of my projects. Dr. Nico Dantuma, Dr. Christa Maynard and Dr. Olga Rudenko have been extremely helpful with reestablishing our R6/2 colony. Thank you so much for your help!

I am also very grateful to all collaborators and co-authors that have not been mentioned elsewhere in this text: Prof. Roger Barker, Prof. Charlotte Erlanson-Albertsson, Dr. Veronique Gazeau, Dr. Anna Goodman, Prof. Michael Kuhar, Dr. Bernhard Landwehrmeyer, Dr. Andreas Lindqvist, Prof. Ruth Luthi-Carter, Dr. Marion Maat-Schieman, Dr. Jenny Morton, Prof. Raymund Roos, Prof. Theo Stijnen, Prof. Frank Sundler, Dr. Sarah Tabrizi, Jackie Wamsteeker, Dr. Nils Wierup, Annika Winqvist, and Dr. Nigel Wood. I especially thank Karl Bacos for making boring experiments so much fun!

I am greatly indebted to all the friends I had in Lund: Sergey Anisimov, Karin van der Borght, Sofia Correia, Tomas Deierborg, Marloes Dekker-Nitert, Valentina Fedele, Joana Gil, Nora Hagemeier, Helene Hall, Stephan Hermening, Emma Lane, Liselijn and Jeroen Langbroek-Wisman, Hannah Lewis, Anna Magnusson, Ingrid van Marion, Caterina Oliveira, Gesine Paul, Stine Rasmussen, Laurent Roybon, Jelena Pesic, Geraldine Petit, Diogo Ribeiro, Irene Kanter-Schlifke, Ruben Smith, Denis Soulet, Karin Staflin, Ayse Ulusoy, Hongyu Zhang, and Thole Züchner, You helped me with moving, with labwork, and we spent many great evenings and weekends together. You all have a special place in my heart. Without you, my time in Lund would have been much less fun!

I have been extraordinarily lucky to have spent the last four years in the Wallenberg Neuroscience Center (WNC) and in Patrik's Neuronal Survival Unit (NeSu). There are so many wonderful things that could be said about the WNC: the people, the open doors, the atmosphere, the many lectures, and interesting visitors. It is hard to imagine a more stimulating and encouraging academic environment. I would like to thank all of you that have contributed to this great working environment, especially Prof. Anders Björklund, Tomas Björklund, Dr. Manolo Carta, Dr. Angela Cenci-Nilsson, Dr. Eskil Elmer, Dr. Magnus Hansson, Ulla Jarl, Dr. Deniz Kirik, Dr. Cecilia Lundberg, Prof. Harold Robertson and Dr. Simon Stott who have directly contributed to my thesis by interesting scientific conversations or by helping with laboratory issues. I am also very grateful to all current and previous NeSu members (that have not been mentioned elsewhere in this text) for being the nicest, warmest and most helpful colleagues I could have ever imagined: Dr. Ines Araujo, Dr. Nicolaj Christopherson, Hinfan Chung, Darren Cleare, Dr. Irakli Darsalia, David Dias, Dr. Helena Frielingsdorf, Dr. Tord Hjalt, Dr. Shorena Janelidze, Caroline Kiaer, Pontus Klein, Ana Rita Lourenço Inacio, Dr. Yeliz Koc-Schmitz, Dr. Paul Mohapel, Dr. Asuka Morizane, Ingar Nilsson, Dr. Ilknur Özen, Anna Persson, Dr. Nataljia Popovic, and Sara Rundquist.

I would like to thank all students of the 'Nervous System Repair (NSR)'-network for being great friends and good company during the workshops we had at different European institutes: Liviu Aron, Jorge Aquino, Judith Bellemare, Christina Cantarella, Thijs Drenth, Julien Dusonchet, Max Elkouris, Ali Ertürk, Pablo Garcia Reitböck, Manuel Garrido, Özgun Gökce, Fiona O'Keeffe, Maurice Perrinjaquet, Veronique Planchamp, Frank Veenman, and Ian Williams. I would also like to express my gratitude to all principle investigators and other researchers that have been involved in the NSR-network. I am especially grateful to professor Christopher Hendersson, who laid the foundations of this network. Being an NSR-student was a great experience and the training I received at the different European host institutes, the company visits and interactions with many scientists and even Nobel laureates, have contributed a lot to my scientific development.

The informal support and encouragement of many Dutch friends has been indispensable, and I would like particularly to acknowledge: Ruth Brinkmann, Nicoline Dijksma-Bakker, Hannah Groenendijk, Else Hellinga, Paul and Pauline Kraakman, Eliza Nauta, Susanne Scheer, Jessica Janssen and Stephan van der Sman, and Eveline van der Stoel. You have all come to visit me, some of you even more than once, and supplied me with an enormous amount of 'stroopwafels', and Gouda cheese! Your friendship is very important to me and I am looking forward to living closer to you soon!

I thank my family, especially my godparents Leo and Agaath, uncle Nol and aunt Wil, my sister Kirsten, and my grandmother, for being a constant source of support throughout life. Without you, I would not be who I am today.

I would like to thank Mr. and Mrs. Aziz, Ibrahim, Ali and Hosein for welcoming me so warmly into their family and making me feel like their daughter and sister. Mr. Aziz made me realize that it is never too late to make big [career] changes in life. You built up a new life in another country. I admire you for your courage. You set a great example for Ahmad and me. Mrs. Aziz: Thank you for all the delicious Persian dishes!

I am greatly indebted to my beloved Ahmad for helping with many issues regarding this thesis, but more importantly for his endless love, for sharing life with me, with its laughter and tears, and for always encouraging me in following my dreams. Science brought us together oneand-a-half years ago and since then you have always been on my side. You are the best that has ever happened in my life. *Man doestet daram*.

And finally, I would like to thank my parents, Rinus and Corry van der Burg, for making me who I am and for always being there for me. You are simply the best parents in the world! To you, I dedicate my thesis.

This thesis was supported by a Marie Curie actions fellowship: European Union, RTN MRTN-CT-2003-504636.

Curriculum Vitae

Jorien Maria Margaretha van der Burg was born on the 7th of December 1977 in Zwolle, The Netherlands. In 1990 she started high school at the Develstein College in Zwijndrecht. She graduated in 1996 and started her studies in Biology the same year at Leiden University. Her first master's research project was performed at the department of Behavioural Biology under supervision of Professor Johan J. Bolhuis and Dr. Nienke Terpstra. This project aimed to investigate the neural mechanisms involved in song recognition in zebra finches. After finishing this project, Jorien started a second research project at the Mental Health Research Institute in Melbourne, Australia. She worked in the laboratory of Dr. Maarten van den Buuse, under the supervision of Prof. Ron E. de Kloet and Dr. Melly Oitzl from the Leiden Amsterdam Center for Drug Research. She investigated the effects of long term estrogen deprivation on learning and memory in aromatase knock out mice. In February 2003 she graduated *cum laude*. In November the same year she was awarded the Unilever Research Prize for outstanding science students.

Since 2000 Jorien has combined her studies in Biology with a part time job as a lecturer at the Leiden University of Applied Sciences (Hoger Laboratorium Onderwijs, Hogeschool Leiden). After finishing her studies she obtained a full time position as a lecturer in this institute. In 2004, Jorien was elected, together with 15 other outstanding students, for the European research training program 'Nervous System Repair (NSR)'. Through this network she received education at different European institutes, such as the Karolinska Institute, Cambridge University, and the Max Planck Institute. At the same time (from September 2004 until August 2008), Jorien worked as a PhD student in the Wallenberg Neuroscience Center at Lund University, Sweden. There she performed the work that is described in this thesis under the supervision of Professor Patrik Brundin, Associate Professor Jia-Yi Li and Dr. Brigitte Pettman. Besides her studies Jorien has chaired the students steering committee of the NSR network and was on the board of the PhD student association (Samrådsgruppen för doktorander) at the department of Experimental Medical Science at Lund University. During her PhD training period, Jorien has been rewarded several prizes, among which the prize for the best scientific poster at the 2006 International Neuroscience Day in Lund, and the prize for the best mini-review, that was written together with two teammates during the NCoE/NSR workshop 2005.

In spring 2008 Jorien was elected for the Selective Utrecht Medical Master (SUMMA) at Utrecht University and enrolled the medical training program in September the same year.